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                                     PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

GENERAL

Trans World Entertainment Corporation (which, together with its consolidated
subsidiaries, is referred to herein as the "Company") was incorporated in New
York in 1972. Trans World Entertainment Corporation owns 100% of the outstanding
common stock of Record Town, Inc., through which the Company's principal retail
operations are conducted, through various subsidiaries.

The Company operates a chain of retail entertainment stores and an e-commerce
site in a single industry segment. Sales were $1.41 billion during the fiscal
year ended February 3, 2001 (referred to herein as "2000"). The Company is one
of the largest specialty retailers of compact discs, prerecorded audio
cassettes, prerecorded videocassettes, digital versatile discs ("DVDs") and
related products in the United States. At February 3, 2001, the Company operated
984 stores totaling approximately 5.3 million square feet in 46 states, the
District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin



Islands, with the majority of the stores concentrated in the Eastern half of the
United States. The Company's business is seasonal in nature, with the peak
selling period being the Christmas holiday season in the Company's fourth fiscal
quarter.

On October 30, 2000, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain
liabilities and operating lease commitments of 112 stores from Wax Works, Inc.,
a privately-held music and video retailer. The stores operate under the name
"Disc Jockey" and are located primarily in mall locations throughout the Midwest
and Southern United States. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase
method of accounting. The Company acquired the assets for $49.8 million,
including merchandise inventory, fixed assets, leasehold interests and other
related current assets. The Company recognized approximately $10.2 million in
goodwill related to the acquisition. The goodwill will be amortized on a
straight-line basis over a 15-year period.

On August 11, 2000, the Company acquired a majority interest in SecondSpin.com
for $4.2 million, net of cash acquired.. The acquisition was accounted for under
the purchase method of accounting. SecondSpin.com operates on-line and in store
marketplaces for buying and selling of used CDs, videos and DVDs. SecondSpin
operates four stores in California and Colorado.

On April 22, 1999, the Company merged with Camelot Music Holdings, Inc.
("Camelot"). The Company exchanged 1.9 shares of its common stock for each share
of Camelot common stock. The Company issued approximately 19.3 million shares of
its common stock in exchange for all outstanding Camelot common stock. The
transaction was accounted for as a pooling-of-interests. Accordingly, prior
period consolidated financial statements have been restated to include combined
results of operations, financial position and cash flows of Camelot as though it
had been a part of the Company since Camelot's adoption of "fresh-start"
accounting on January 31, 1998.

The Company's principal executive offices are located at 38 Corporate Circle,
Albany, New York, 12203, and its telephone number is (518) 452-1242.

STORE CONCEPTS

The Company offers a broad selection of music and video titles at competitive
prices in convenient, attractive stores. The Company has a number of distinct
store concepts to take advantage of real estate opportunities and to satisfy
varying consumer demands.

  MALL STORES

The Company's mall stores currently include four concepts, all of which offer
consumers an exciting shopping experience. The mall stores emphasize a strong
in-store marketing message, and a broad merchandise selection to attract the
casual impulse buyer.

FULL-LINE MUSIC STORES. The Company's full-line mall stores are located in
large, regional shopping malls and operate under the trade names of Record
Town, Camelot Music, Disc Jockey or The Wall. There were 627 such stores at
February 3, 2001. This concept averages approximately 4,700 square feet with
stores ranging in excess of 10,000 square feet.
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SATURDAY MATINEE STORES. These stores sell prerecorded video merchandise and
related accessories. These stores are located in large, regional shopping
malls and average 2,200 square feet in size. There were 24 such locations at
February 3, 2001.

COMBINATION STORES. At February 3, 2001, the Company operated 90 combination
Record Town/Saturday Matinee stores. The combination store concept averages
8,300 square feet. These stores share common storefronts and offer the
consumer an exciting combination of music and video merchandise in one store
location. The Company believes that the combination of the two concepts
creates a marketing synergy by attracting different target customers.

FOR YOUR ENTERTAINMENT STORES. At February 3, 2001, the Company operated 14
F.Y.E. stores. These stores carry a broad assortment of music and video
merchandise and an extensive selection of games, portable electronics,
accessories and boutique items, as well as a game arcade. This format makes the
traditional superstore experience available to shopping mall consumers. This
format is designed to be a semi-anchor or destination location in major regional
malls. The F.Y.E. concept averages 23,800 square feet.

   BRANDING

On March 19, 2001, the Company announced its strategic plan to re-brand its
mall-based stores and its web site under a single, unified brand, FYE (For
Your Entertainment). The re-branding initiative is the result of an 18-month
in-depth analysis of the changing entertainment marketplace, the technology
revolution, as well as extensive customer research. The unified brand enables



the Company to leverage its strength as the nation's largest music specialty
retailer and differentiate FYE from the competition. For the first time,
customers nationwide will enjoy a consistent shopping experience in every
store, in every market and in every channel. This enhanced brand experience,
which will include industry-leading product sampling and selection tools, is
designed to cultivate customer loyalty, drive sales and build market share
for the Company. FYE will create a more relevant shopping experience for
consumers, expanding product selection across the entertainment spectrum. The
brand positioning also enables the Company to broaden its customer base and
fully realize the benefits of a multi-market, multi-channel strategy. The
re-branding effort will be rolled out nationally to all stores by the end of
fiscal 2001. The Company's e-commerce site will be re-launched as fye.com in
August 2001 for an unparalleled bricks and clicks presence. Management
anticipates the investment in the branding initiative to be approximately $40
million in 2001, including operating expenses of $19 million including
depreciation.

  FREESTANDING STORES

The Company's freestanding concept included 228 stores in operation at
February 3, 2001, which primarily operate under the names Coconuts,
Strawberries Music and Spec's Music. These stores are designed for
freestanding, strip center and downtown locations. These stores average
approximately 5,200 square feet, and carry an extensive merchandise
assortment. The Company's freestanding stores include 9 video rental stores
operating under the name Movies Plus.

The Company also operates "Planet Music," a 31,000 square foot freestanding
superstore in Virginia Beach, VA. The store offers an extensive catalog of
music, video and other related merchandise.

  E-COMMERCE

In November 1998, the Company launched TWEC.COM, which is the on-line hub for
the Company's retail stores. The site features all of the music CDs and
cassettes, video games, DVD and VHS home videos that are available at its retail
stores, and more. The Company will replace TWEC.COM when it launches fye.com in
fiscal 2001.
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MERCHANDISE

The Company's stores offer a full assortment of compact discs, prerecorded audio
cassettes, prerecorded video, DVDs and related products. Sales by merchandise
category as a percent of total sales over the past three years were as follows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                      ------------------------------------------
                                       FEBRUARY 3,   JANUARY 29,    JANUARY 30,
                                              2001          2000          1999
                                      ------------------------------------------
<S>                                       <C>           <C>           <C>
         Compact discs                     66.6%         67.0%         64.3%
         Prerecorded audio cassettes        6.9           9.5          12.2
         Singles                            1.6           2.9           3.6
         Prerecorded video                 14.5          11.2          10.3
         Other                             10.4           9.4           9.6
                                      ------------------------------------------
         TOTAL                            100.0%        100.0%        100.0%
                                      ------------------------------------------
</TABLE>

PRERECORDED MUSIC. The Company's stores offer a full assortment of compact discs
and prerecorded audio cassettes purchased primarily from five major
manufacturers. Music categories include rock, pop, rap, soundtracks,
alternative, Latin, urban, heavy metal, country, dance, vocals, jazz and
classical.

PRERECORDED VIDEO. The Company offers prerecorded videocassettes and DVDs for
sale in a majority of its stores. In 2000, DVD sales increased to 42% of the
Company's total video sales. The Company believes that the DVD player will
continue to replace VCRs. Paul Kagan Associates, an entertainment/media research
firm, estimated that more than 4 million households owned a DVD player by the
end of 2000 and as many as 43 million households will own a DVD player by the
end of 2008. The Company plans to capitalize on this trend by making DVDs
increasingly available in its stores.

OTHER MERCHANDISE. The Company stocks and promotes brand name blank audio
cassettes, compact discs and videocassette tapes as well as accessory
merchandise for compact discs, audio cassettes and videocassettes, including
maintenance and cleaning products, storage cases, portable electronics and
headphones. The Company also features video games, consumer electronics and



boutique items.

ADVERTISING

The Company makes extensive use of in-store signs and pursues a mass-media
marketing program for its freestanding stores through advertisements in
newspapers, radio, and television. Most of the vendors from whom the Company
purchases merchandise offer advertising allowances to promote their merchandise.
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INDUSTRY AND COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT

According to the Recording Industry Association of America, the U.S. retail
music market was approximately $14.3 billion in 2000. The retail home
entertainment industry is highly competitive. The Company's retail stores
compete primarily with other specialty retail music and video chains (e.g. Sam
Goody, Wherehouse Entertainment, Tower Records), as well as mass merchants (e.g.
Wal-Mart, K-Mart, Target), book stores (e.g. Barnes and Noble, Borders) and
consumer electronics stores (e.g. Best Buy, Circuit City), some of which may
have greater financial or other resources than the Company.

The Company also competes with mail order clubs (e.g. BMG Music, Columbia House)
and Internet companies (e.g. Amazon.com, CDnow.com). The Company believes that
sales via the Internet will continue to become more significant over time.

SEASONALITY

The Company's business is highly seasonal, with the fourth quarter constituting
the Company's peak selling period. In fiscal 2000, the fourth quarter accounted
for approximately 39% of annual sales and 75% of net income, excluding
one-time charges. In anticipation of increased sales activity during these
months, the Company purchases substantial amounts of inventory and hires a
significant number of temporary employees to supplement its permanent store
sales staff. If for any reason the Company's net sales were below seasonal norms
during the fourth quarter, as a result of merchandise delivery delays due to
receiving or distribution problems, the Company's operating results,
particularly operating and net income, could be adversely affected. Quarterly
results can be affected by the timing and strength of new releases, the
timing of holidays, new store openings and the sales performance of existing
stores.

DISTRIBUTION AND MERCHANDISE OPERATIONS

The Company's two distribution facilities use automated and computerized systems
designed to manage merchandise receipt, storage and shipment. Store inventories
of regular merchandise are replenished using daily sales information that is
transmitted to the Company's central computer system from each store after the
close of the business day. Shipments from the distribution facilities to the
Company's stores are made at least once a week and currently provide
approximately 78% of all merchandise requirements. The balance of the stores'
requirements is satisfied through direct shipments from manufacturers.

Company-owned trucks service approximately 21% of the Company's stores. The
balance of stores are serviced by several common carriers chosen on the basis of
geography and rate considerations. The Company does not have any long-term
contractual arrangements with common carriers. The Company's sales volume and
centralized merchandise distribution facilities enable them to take advantage of
transportation economies.

The Company believes that its existing distribution centers are adequate to meet
the Company's planned business needs.
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SUPPLIERS AND PURCHASING

The Company purchases inventory from approximately 660 suppliers. Approximately
71% of purchases in fiscal 2000 were made from five suppliers: WEA
(Warner/Electra/Atlantic Corp.), Sony Music, Universal Distribution, BMG
(Bertelsmann Music Group) and EMD (EMI Music Distribution). As is typical in
this industry, the Company does not have material long-term purchase contracts
and deals with its suppliers principally on an order-by-order basis. In the
past, the Company has not experienced difficulty in obtaining satisfactory
sources of supply, and management believes that it will retain access to
adequate sources of supply. The Company also expects to continue to pass on to
customers any material price increases imposed by the suppliers of prerecorded
music and video.

The Company produces its own store fixtures for its stores at a facility located
in Johnstown, New York. The Company believes that its costs of production are
lower than purchasing from an outside manufacturer.



TRADE CUSTOMS AND PRACTICES

Under current trade practices with the five largest suppliers, retailers of
compact discs and prerecorded audio cassettes are entitled to return merchandise
they have purchased for other titles carried by the suppliers; however, four of
the five charge a related merchandise return penalty. This return practice
permits the Company to carry a wider selection of music titles and reduces the
risk of inventory obsolescence. Most manufacturers and distributors of
prerecorded video offer return privileges comparable to those of prerecorded
music, but they do not charge a return penalty. Merchandise return policies have
not changed significantly during the past five years. Historically, the Company
generally has adapted its purchasing policies to changes in the policies of its
suppliers.

EMPLOYEES

As of February 3, 2001, the Company employed approximately 10,000 associates, of
whom 4,600 were employed on a full-time basis. The remainder were employed on a
part-time or temporary basis. The Company hires seasonal sales associates during
peak seasons to ensure continued levels of customer service. Store managers
report to district managers, who, in turn, report to regional managers. Store
managers, district managers and regional managers are eligible to receive
incentive compensation based on the profitability of stores for which they are
responsible. None of the employees are covered by collective bargaining
agreements, and management believes that the Company enjoys favorable relations
with its employees. Increases in the minimum wage have had a significant effect
on the Company's compensation expense in recent years. Future increases in the
minimum wage may have an adverse effect on the Company's results of operations
and financial condition.

RETAIL INFORMATION SYSTEMS

The Company utilizes an IBM AS/400 computer system for the majority of its
information processing. The system processes sales, inventory, accounting,
payroll, telecommunications and other operating information. During fiscal 1998
and 1999, the Company completed a chain-wide rollout of a new point-of-sale
system. This system improved customer service by increasing the accuracy of
perpetual inventory records at the store level, which improved in-stock levels.
The system includes enhanced inventory management functions, including
merchandise receiving and returns, and the ability to look up, by SKU, a store's
current in-stock inventory position. Additionally, the system facilitates
streamlined checkout procedures and daily electronic communication between
stores, the corporate offices and field management.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

RETAIL STORES

At February 3, 2001, the Company operated 984 retail locations. All of the
Company's retail stores are under operating leases with various terms and
options. Substantially all of the stores provide for payment of fixed monthly
rentals, a percentage of gross receipts of the store in excess of specified
sales levels, and operating expenses for maintenance, property taxes, insurance
and utilities. The following table lists the number of leases due to expire
(assuming no renewal options are exercised) in each of the fiscal years shown,
as of February 3, 2001:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                # of                        # of
                Year           Leases     Year             Leases
                ----           ------     ----             ------
<S>                              <C>      <C>                <C>
                2001             122      2005               82

                2002             104      2006               32

                2003             138      2007               62

                2004             170      2008 & Beyond      274
</TABLE>

The Company expects that as these leases expire, it will be able either to
obtain renewal leases, if desired, or to obtain leases for other suitable
locations.

CORPORATE OFFICES AND DISTRIBUTION CENTER FACILITIES

The Company leases its Albany, New York, distribution facility and corporate
office space from its largest shareholder and Chief Executive Officer under
three capital leases that extend through the year 2015. All three leases are at
fixed rentals with provisions for biennial increases based upon increases in the



Consumer Price Index. Under such leases, the Company pays all property taxes,
insurance and maintenance. The office portion of the facility is comprised of
approximately 40,300 square feet. The distribution center portion is comprised
of approximately 128,100 square feet. The Company owns its 236,600 square foot
distribution center and 59,200 square feet of commercial office space in North
Canton, Ohio.

The Company leases an 82,000 square foot facility in Johnstown, New York, where
it manufactures its store fixtures. The operating lease expires in December
2003. The Company also leases 20,700 square feet of commercial office space in
Albany, New York. The operating lease expires in December of 2001.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On October 16, 2000, the United States District Court for the District of
Delaware issued an opinion in favor of the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS"), in
the case of the IRS vs. CM Holdings Inc. ("Camelot"), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. The case was brought against Camelot by the IRS to challenge the
deduction of interest expense for certain tax years that ended on or before
February 1994, related to corporate-owned life insurance policies held by
Camelot. The court ruled that the interest deductions should not be allowed and
the Company is responsible for interest and penalties. As a result of the
ruling, the Company reserved $11.0 million during 2000. The Company has filed a
notice of appeal in the United States Third Circuit Court of Appeals in
response to the decision.

On August 8, 2000, 30 Attorneys General served a complaint against the Company,
the five major music distributors and two other specialty retailers in the U.S.
District Court for the Southern District of New York ("AG's suit"). The
complaint has been subsequently amended to add additional states as plaintiffs
and to reflect the transfer of the case to U.S. District Court in Maine pursuant
to the Multidistrict Litigation Rules. The AG's suit alleges that the
distributors and retailers conspired to violate the anti-trust laws and to fix
prices by requiring retailers to adhere to minimum advertised prices in order to
receive cooperative advertising funds from the labels. The complaint alleges
that consumers were damaged in an unspecified amount and seeks treble damages
and civil penalties. Following the services of the AG's suit, these same
defendants were named as defendants in private class action suits ("Class
Actions"), each with similar allegations as in the AG's suit. The Class
Actions have been consolidated along with the AG's suit in the
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS (CONTINUED)

U.S. District Court in Maine. It is management's belief that the lawsuit is
without merit and the Company will ultimately prevail in this regard.

The Company is subject to other legal proceedings and claims that have arisen in
the ordinary course of its business and have not been finally adjudicated.
Although there can be no assurance as to the ultimate disposition of these
matters, it is management's opinion, based upon the information available at
this time, that the expected outcome of these matters, individually or in the
aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the results of operations
and financial condition of the Company.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth
quarter of the fiscal year ended February 3, 2001.
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                                     PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

MARKET INFORMATION. The Company's Common Stock trades on The NASDAQ Stock Market
under the symbol "TWMC." As of February 3, 2001, there were approximately 925
shareholders of record. The following table sets forth high and low last
reported sale prices, adjusted for stock splits, for each fiscal quarter during
the period from February 1, 1999 through April 30, 2001.

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                     CLOSING
                                                      SALES
                                                      PRICES

                                                 High        Low
<S>                                             <C>        <C>
                             2000
                  1st Quarter                   $10.69     $ 9.25



                  2nd Quarter                    12.88       9.50
                  3rd Quarter                    12.06       7.63
                  4th Quarter                    10.19       7.44

                             1999
                  1st Quarter                   $21.96     $16.00
                  2nd Quarter                    29.58      18.25
                  3rd Quarter                    26.75      11.33
                  4th Quarter                    24.38      13.25

                             2001               $ 9.88     $ 8.02
                  1st Quarter (through
                      April 30, 2001)
</TABLE>

On April 30, 2001, the last reported sale price on the Common Stock on the
NASDAQ National Market was $8.97.

Options for the Company's Common Stock trade on the Chicago Board Options
Exchange.

DIVIDEND POLICY: The Company has never declared or paid cash dividends on its
Common Stock. The Company's credit agreement currently allows the Company to pay
a cash dividend once in each calendar year. Such dividends would be restricted
to ten percent of the most recent fiscal year's consolidated net income and
could only be paid if, after any payment of dividends, the Company maintains $25
million in availability under the credit agreement. Any future determination as
to the payment of dividends will depend upon capital requirements and
limitations imposed by the Company's credit agreement and such other factors as
the Board of Directors of the Company may consider.

                                       8

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data and other
operating information of the Company and gives retroactive effect to the
acquisition of Camelot for the periods subsequent to its "fresh-start reporting"
on January 31, 1998, upon its reemergence from bankruptcy. The acquisition was
accounted for using the pooling-of-interests method of accounting. The selected
income statement and balance sheet data for the five fiscal years ended February
3, 2001 set forth below are derived from the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company. Each fiscal year of the Company consisted of 52
weeks, except the fiscal year ended February 3, 2001, which consisted of 53
weeks. All share and per share amounts have been adjusted for stock splits. The
information is only a summary and should be read in conjunction with the
Company's audited consolidated financial statements and related notes and other
financial information included herein and "Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                    FISCAL YEAR ENDED
                                            -------------------------------------------------------------------
                                             FEBRUARY 3,   JANUARY 29,  JANUARY 30,  JANUARY 31,  FEBRUARY 1,
                                                 2001          2000         1999         1998         1997
                                            -------------------------------------------------------------------
                                                     (in thousands, except per share and store data)
<S>                                             <C>          <C>          <C>            <C>          <C>
         INCOME STATEMENT DATA:
         Sales                                  $1,414,589   $1,358,132   $1,282,385     $571,314     $481,657
         Cost of sales                             917,354      858,588      796,311      361,422      308,952
                                            -------------------------------------------------------------------
         Gross profit                              497,235      499,544      486,074      209,892      172,705
         Selling, general and
           Administrative expenses                 416,990      371,998      372,886      170,834      150,218
         Camelot merger-related costs (1)               --       25,473           --           --           --
         Asset impairment charge and
            restructuring charge
            (reversal), net (2)                         --           --        1,537           --           --
                                            -------------------------------------------------------------------
         Income from operations                     80,245      102,073      111,651       39,058       22,487
         Interest expense                            3,128        3,496        4,989        5,148       12,110
         Other expenses (income), net               (6,543)      (4,086)      (2,221)        (153)      (1,343)
                                            -------------------------------------------------------------------
         Income before income
           taxes                                    83,660      102,663      108,883       34,063       11,720
         Income tax expense                         43,510       41,270       47,873       13,489        4,618
                                            -------------------------------------------------------------------
         Net income                                 40,150      $61,393      $61,010      $20,574       $7,102
                                            ===================================================================
         Basic earnings per share                    $0.84        $1.17        $1.19        $0.70        $0.24
                                            ===================================================================
         Weighted average number



           of shares outstanding - basic            47,597       52,457       51,105       29,483       29,271
                                            ===================================================================
         Diluted earnings per share                  $0.83        $1.15        $1.14        $0.66        $0.24
                                            ===================================================================
         Weighted average number
            of shares outstanding - diluted         48,498       53,354       53,530       31,032       29,697
                                            ===================================================================

         BALANCE SHEET DATA: (AT THE END OF THE PERIOD)
         Working capital                          $244,716     $303,562     $274,535      $88,974     $80,368
         Total assets                            1,002,002      956,410      798,610      374,019     311,610
         Current portion of
           Long-term obligations                     5,702        5,311        4,802           99       9,557
         Long-term obligations                      13,767       19,461       36,065       41,409      50,490
         Shareholders' equity                      448,822      494,173      432,376      124,522     102,919

         OPERATING DATA:
         Store count (open at end of
           period):
              Mall stores                              755          723          741          340         357
              Freestanding stores                      229          244          247          199         122
                                            ------------------------------------------------------------------
              Total stores                             984          967          988          539         479

         Comparable store sales increase (3)          0.2%         2.0%         3.7%        10.2%        3.6%
         Total square footage (in thousands)         5,322        4,913        4,693        2,442       2,008
</TABLE>
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(1)   THE CAMELOT MERGER-RELATED COSTS INCLUDED THE WRITE-OFF OF THE BOOK VALUE
      OF RETIRED ASSETS, PROFESSIONAL FEES ASSOCIATED WITH THE COMPLETION OF THE
      MERGER, SEVERANCE COSTS, JOINT PROXY PRINTING AND DISTRIBUTION COSTS, AND
      REGULATORY FILING FEES.

(2)   THE ASSET IMPAIRMENT CHARGE AND RESTRUCTURING CHARGE (REVERSAL), NET,
      DURING THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 30, 1999, INCLUDED AN ASSET IMPAIRMENT
      CHARGE OF $3.7 MILLION TO WRITE DOWN THE CARRYING AMOUNT OF CERTAIN FIXED
      ASSETS AT STORES, PRIMARILY LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS, AND THE ONE-TIME
      REVERSAL OF THE REMAINING BALANCE OF $2.2 MILLION IN THE STORE CLOSING
      RESERVE ORIGINALLY ESTABLISHED DURING THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 3,
      1996. SEE NOTE 3 TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

(3)   A STORE IS INCLUDED IN COMPARABLE STORE SALES CALCULATIONS AT THE
      BEGINNING OF ITS 13TH FULL MONTH OF OPERATION.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

The following is an analysis of the Company's results of operations, liquidity
and capital resources. To the extent that such analysis contains statements
which are not of a historical nature, such statements are forward-looking
statements, which involve risks and uncertainties. These risks include, but are
not limited to, changes in the competitive environment for the Company's
merchandise, including the entry or exit of non-traditional retailers of the
Company's merchandise to or from its markets; the release by the music industry
of an increased or decreased number of "hit releases;" general economic factors
in markets where the Company's merchandise is sold; and other factors discussed
in the Company's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain income and
expense items as a percentage of sales:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                       Fiscal Year Ended
                                             --------------------------------------
                                              February 3, January 29,  January 30,
                                                 2001        2000         1999
                                             --------------------------------------
<S>                                                <C>         <C>          <C>
         Sales                                     100.0%      100.0%       100.0%
         Gross profit                               35.2%       36.8%        37.9%
         Selling, general and
           administrative expenses                  29.5%       27.4%        29.1%
         Camelot merger-related costs                  --        1.9%           --
         Restructuring charge reversal
         and impairment charge, net                    --          --         0.1%
                                             --------------------------------------



         Income from operations                      5.7%        7.5%         8.7%
         Interest expense                            0.2%        0.3%         0.4%
         Other expenses (income), net               (0.4)%      (0.3)%       (0.2)%
                                             --------------------------------------
         Income before income taxes                  5.9%        7.5%         8.5%
         Income tax expense                          3.1%        3.0%         3.7%
                                             --------------------------------------

         Net income                                  2.8%        4.5%         4.8%
                                             ======================================

         Change in comparable store sales            0.2%        2.0%         3.7%
                                             ======================================
</TABLE>

                   FISCAL YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 3, 2001 ("2000")
             COMPARED TO FISCAL YEAR ENDED JANUARY 29, 2000 ("1999")

SALES. The Company's sales increased $56.5 million, or 4.2%, from 1999. The
increase was primarily attributable to a comparable store sales increase of 0.2%
and the addition of approximately 409,000 square feet of retail selling space
through the opening of 12 stores, acquisition of 112 stores (purchase of retail
assets from Wax Works, Inc., a privately-held music and video retailer) and
relocation of 36 stores, which was partially offset by the closing of 107
stores.

For 2000, comparable store sales increased 0.2% for mall stores and 0.3% for
freestanding stores. By merchandise category, comparable store sales decreased
5.4% in music, increased 29.7% in video and 7.7% in other merchandise. The
increase in comparable sales for video was driven by DVD sales.

GROSS PROFIT. Gross profit, as a percentage of sales, decreased to 35.2% in 2000
from 36.8% in 1999 primarily as a result of declining sales in the high margin
singles and audio cassette categories, increased sales in the lower margin DVD
category, and increased promotional pricing.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES. SG&A, as a percentage of sales,
increased to 29.5% in 2000 from 27.4% in 1999. The increase can be attributed to
increased spending on strategic initiatives including the unified branding of
mall stores, supply chain enhancement and e-commerce development.
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INTEREST EXPENSE. Interest expense decreased from $3.5 million in 1999 to $3.1
million in 2000 due to lower average outstanding borrowings.

OTHER EXPENSES (INCOME), NET. Other income, net increased from $4.1 million
in 1999 to $6.5 million in 2000. The increase was due to interest income from
higher average cash balances during the year.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE. The effective income tax rate was 52.0% in 2000. Included in
income tax expense was an $11.0 million charge, which resulted from a court
decision disallowing the deduction of interest expenses related to corporate-
owned life insurance policies held by Camelot. Excluding the charge, the
Company's effective tax rate was 38.9% in 2000. See Note 6 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for a reconciliation of the statutory tax rate
to the Company's effective income tax rate.

NET INCOME. In 2000, the Company's net income decreased to $40.2 million
compared to a net income of $61.4 million in 1999. The decrease in net income is
attributable to lower gross margins, higher SG&A expenses and the increase in
income tax expense related to the court decision on corporate-owned life
insurance policies.

Comparisons of 2000 and 1999 are affected by an additional week of results in
the 2000 reporting year. Because the Company's year ends on the Saturday nearest
to January 31, a fifty-third week is added every five or six years. The
fifty-third week in 2000 increased sales by an estimated $23.7 million,
operating income by an estimated $4.0 million and net income by an estimated
$2.5 million or $0.05 per share.

                   FISCAL YEAR ENDED JANUARY 29, 2000 ("1999")
             COMPARED TO FISCAL YEAR ENDED JANUARY 30, 1999 ("1998")

SALES. The Company's sales increased $75.7 million, or 5.9%, from 1998. The
increase was primarily attributable to a comparable store sales increase of 2.0%
and the addition of approximately 220,000 square feet of retail selling space
through the opening of 34 stores and relocation of 46 stores, which was
partially offset by the closing of 55 stores. Management attributes the
comparable store sales increase to its focus on customer service, superior
retail locations, inventory and merchandise presentation.

For 1999, comparable store sales increased 1.6% for mall stores and 4.2% for
freestanding stores. By merchandise category, comparable store sales increased



1.1% in music, 9.9% in video and decreased 4.5% in other merchandise.

GROSS PROFIT. Gross profit, as a percentage of sales, decreased to 36.8% in 1999
from 37.9% in 1998 primarily as a result of higher inventory shrinkage in the
acquired Camelot stores. The Company has taken action to reduce shrink at the
Camelot stores, including implementing policies and procedures that have
successfully kept shrink at reduced levels for the Company in the past.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES. SG&A, as a percentage of sales,
decreased to 27.4% in 1999 from 29.1% in 1998. The 1.7% decrease can be
attributed to the leverage of SG&A on the total sales increase and the reduction
of corporate overhead expenses through the consolidation of the Camelot
corporate offices.

CAMELOT MERGER-RELATED COSTS. The Camelot merger costs, net, represents the
one-time charge of $25.5 million for costs directly related to completing the
merger with Camelot Music Holdings, Inc. The costs included the write-off of the
book value of retired assets, professional fees associated with the completion
of the merger, severance costs, joint proxy printing and distribution costs, and
regulatory filing fees.

INTEREST EXPENSE. Interest expense decreased from $5.0 million in 1998 to $3.5
million in 1999. The decrease is due to lower average outstanding borrowings and
lower interest rates.

OTHER EXPENSES (INCOME), NET. Other income, net increased from $2.2 million
in 1998 to $4.1 million in 1999. The increase was due to interest income from
higher average cash balances during the year.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE. The effective income tax rate was 40.2% in 1999. See Note 6
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a reconciliation of the
statutory tax rate to the Company's effective income tax rate.

NET INCOME. In 1999, the Company's net income increased to $61.4 million
compared to net income of $61.0 million in 1998. Excluding the one-time Camelot
merger-related costs, pro forma 1999 net income is $76.6 million. The improved
bottom line performance as compared to 1998 can be attributed to the improved
leverage of SG&A expenses due to higher sales and the reduction of corporate
overhead expenses.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES. The Company's primary sources of working
capital are cash flows provided by operations and borrowing capacity under
its revolving credit facility. The Company ended fiscal 2000 with cash
balances of approximately $265.1 million, compared to $280.0 million at the
end of 1999. The decrease primarily relates to an increase in cash used in
investing and financing activities.

Cash used in investing activities was $92.0 million in 2000, as compared to
$53.3 million in 1999. In 2000, the primary uses of cash were $55.9 million for
acquisitions, primarily relating to the acquired Disc Jockey stores, and $32.8
million for the acquisition of property and equipment. In 1999, the acquisition
of property and equipment accounted for $51.2 million of cash used in investing
activities.

Cash used in financing activities was $90.2 million in 2000, as compared to
$18.2 million in 1999. In 2000, the primary use of cash was $85.7 million to
repurchase outstanding shares of the Company's common stock under programs
authorized by the Board of Directors. As of February 3, 2001, the Company had
purchased approximately 10.5 million shares of the 15.0 million shares
authorized by the Board of Directors under three separate programs of 5.0
million shares each. During 1999, the two largest uses of cash were a payment
of $22.0 million to pay off the remaining debt associated with the Camelot
acquisition and $11.5 million to repurchase outstanding shares of the
Company's common stock.

The Company has a three-year $100 million secured revolving credit facility with
Congress Financial Corporation that expires in July 2003 and automatically
renews on a year-to-year basis thereafter at the discretion of both parties.
Interest expense decreased to $3.1 million in 2000 from $3.5 million in 1999. As
of February 3, 2001 and January 29, 2000, the Company did not have any
borrowings outstanding under the facility, and $100 million was available.

The revolving credit facility contains certain restrictive provisions, including
provisions governing cash dividends and acquisitions, is collateralized by
merchandise inventory and has a minimum net worth covenant.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES. The majority of the Company's capital expenditures are for
new stores and the relocation of existing stores. The Company typically finances
its capital expenditures through cash generated from operations. The Company may
also receive financing from landlords in the form of construction allowances or



rent concessions. Total capital expenditures were approximately $32.8 million in
2000.

In fiscal 2001, the Company plans to spend approximately $56.0 million, net of
construction allowances, for additions to fixed assets, including costs for the
rebranding of the mall stores.

SEASONALITY. The Company's business is highly seasonal, with the highest sales
and earnings occurring in the fourth fiscal quarter. See Note 12 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for quarterly financial highlights.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES. In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 133,
"Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities". SFAS No. 133, as
amended by SFAS No. 137 and SFAS No. 138, establishes accounting and reporting
standards for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments
embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities. SFAS No. 133 is
required to be adopted in years beginning after June 15, 2000. The Company will
adopt SFAS No. 133 effective February 4, 2001. As the Company is not active in
the use of derivative instruments or arrangements, management has determined
that adoption of SFAS No. 133 will not have a material financial impact on the
Company's consolidated financial statements. The Company will continue to
evaluate future contractual arrangements entered into that may affect this
determination.

DIVIDEND POLICY. The Company has never declared or paid cash dividends on its
Common Stock. The Company's credit agreement currently allows the Company to pay
a cash dividend once in each calendar year. These dividends are restricted to
ten percent of the most recent fiscal year's consolidated net income and can
only be paid if, after any payment of dividends, the Company maintains $25
million of availability under the credit agreement. Any future determination as
to the payment of dividends would depend upon capital requirements and
limitations imposed by the Company's credit agreement and such other factors as
the Board of Directors of the Company may consider.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
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The Company does not hold any financial instruments that expose it to
significant market risk and does not engage in hedging activities. Information
about the fair value of financial instruments is included in Note 1 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The index to the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company is included in
Item 14, and the consolidated financial statements follow the signature page to
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The quarterly results of operations are included herein in Note 12 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

                                       14

                                    PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

(a) Identification of Directors

Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing under the captions
"Election of Directors" and "Board of Directors Meetings and Its Committees" in
the Company's definitive Proxy Statement for the Registrant's 2001 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
within 120 days after February 3, 2001.

(b) Identification of Executive Officers

Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing under the caption
"Executive Officers and Compensation" in the Company's definitive Proxy
Statement for the Registrant's 2001 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after February 3,
2001.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing under the caption



"Executive Officers and Compensation" in the Company's definitive Proxy
Statement for the Registrant's 2001 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after February 3,
2001.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing under the captions
"Principal Shareholders" and "Election of Directors" in the Company's definitive
Proxy Statement for the Registrant's 2001 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after February
3, 2001.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing under the caption
"Related Party Transactions" in the Company's definitive Proxy Statement for the
Registrant's 2001 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission within 120 days after February 3, 2001.
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                                     PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

14(a)(1) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements and notes are listed in the Index to
Financial Statements on page F-1 of this report.

14(a)(2) FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
None of the schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting
regulations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are required.

14(a)(3) EXHIBITS
Exhibits are as set forth in the "Index to Exhibits" which follows the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements and immediately precedes the exhibits
filed.

14(b) REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
Not applicable.

14(c) EXHIBITS
Exhibits are as set forth in the "Index to Exhibits" which follows the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements and immediately precedes the exhibits
filed.

14(d) OTHER FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Not applicable.
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                                   SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

                                           TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION

Date: May 4, 2001                                   By: /s/ ROBERT J. HIGGINS
                                                       -------------------------
                                           Robert J. Higgins, Chairman and Chief
                                                               Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report
has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and
in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
NAME                                                       TITLE                                    DATE

<S>                           <C>                                                              <C>
/s/ ROBERT J. HIGGINS         Chairman and Chief Executive Officer                               May 4, 2000
- --------------------------    (Principal Executive Officer)
 (Robert J. Higgins)

/s/ JOHN J. SULLIVAN          Senior Vice President, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer       May 4, 2001
- --------------------------    (Principal Financial and Chief Accounting Officer)
 (John J. Sullivan)



/s/ MATTHEW H. MATARASO       Secretary and Director                                             May 4, 2001
- --------------------------
 (Matthew H. Mataraso)

/s/ GEORGE W. DOUGAN          Director                                                           May 4, 2001
- --------------------------
 (George W. Dougan)

/s/ ISAAC KAUFMAN             Director                                                           May 4, 2001
- --------------------------
 (Isaac Kaufman)

/s/ DEAN S. ADLER             Director                                                           May 4, 2001
- --------------------------
 (Dean S. Adler)

/s/ DR. JOSEPH G. MORONE      Director                                                           May 4, 2001
- --------------------------
 (Dr. Joseph G. Morone)

/s/ MARTIN E. HANAKA          Director                                                           May 4, 2001
- --------------------------
 (Martin E. Hanaka)

/s/ MICHAEL B. SOLOW          Director                                                           May 4, 2001
- --------------------------
 (Michael B. Solow)
</TABLE>
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REPORT OF KPMG LLP
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Trans World Entertainment Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Trans World
Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries as of February 3, 2001 and January
29, 2000, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders'
equity and cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period
ended February 3, 2001. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial



statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Trans World
Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries as of February 3, 2001 and January
29, 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of
the fiscal years in the three-year period ended February 3, 2001, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

                                                          /s/ KPMG LLP

Albany, New York
March 16, 2001
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             TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
                           CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
                                 (IN THOUSANDS)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                                 FEBRUARY 3,    JANUARY 29,
                                                                                    2001            2000
                                                                               -------------------------------
<S>                                                                                <C>             <C>
     ASSETS

     CURRENT ASSETS:
       Cash and cash equivalents                                                   $   265,084     $  280,026
       Accounts receivable                                                               8,726          5,973
       Merchandise inventory                                                           475,747        437,363
       Prepaid expenses and other                                                        5,771          5,203
                                                                               -------------------------------
               Total current assets                                                    755,328        728,565
                                                                               -------------------------------

     FIXED ASSETS, net                                                                 152,741        144,694

     DEFERRED TAX ASSET                                                                 34,317         34,431
     GOODWILL                                                                           43,773         31,433
     OTHER ASSETS                                                                       15,843         17,287
                                                                               -------------------------------
               TOTAL ASSETS                                                       $  1,002,002     $  956,410
                                                                               ===============================

     LIABILITIES

     CURRENT LIABILITIES:
       Accounts payable                                                             $  430,185     $  353,294
       Income taxes payable                                                             28,114         21,908
       Accrued expenses and other                                                       37,380         32,021
       Deferred taxes                                                                    9,231         12,469
       Current portion of capital lease obligations                                      5,702          5,311
                                                                                ------------------------------
               Total current liabilities                                               510,612        425,003

     CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS, less current portion                                    13,767         19,461
     OTHER LIABILITIES                                                                  28,801         17,773
                                                                                ------------------------------
               TOTAL LIABILITIES                                                       553,180        462,237
                                                                                ------------------------------

     SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
      Preferred stock  ($0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized;
         none issued)                                                                       --             --
      Common stock ($0.01 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized;
         53,676,756 shares and 53,425,867 shares issued in
         2000 and 1999, respectively)                                                      537            534
      Additional paid-in capital                                                       285,292        283,932
      Unearned compensation - restricted stock                                              (6)          (348)
      Treasury stock at cost (10,568,432 and 1,177,432 shares in
          2000 and 1999, respectively)                                                 (97,579)       (11,855)
      Accumulated other comprehensive loss                                              (1,482)            --
      Retained earnings                                                                262,060        221,910
                                                                                ------------------------------
               TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY                                              448,822        494,173



                                                                                ------------------------------
               TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY                          $ 1,002,002     $  956,410
                                                                                ==============================
</TABLE>

SEE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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             TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
                        CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
                    (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                                  FISCAL YEAR ENDED
                                                                     ---------------------------------------------
                                                                      FEBRUARY 3,    JANUARY 29,    JANUARY 30,
                                                                          2001           2000           1999
                                                                     ---------------------------------------------
<S>                                                                     <C>            <C>            <C>
Sales                                                                   $ 1,414,589    $ 1,358,132    $ 1,282,385
Cost of sales                                                               917,354        858,588        796,311
                                                                     ---------------------------------------------
Gross profit                                                                497,235        499,544        486,074
Selling, general and administrative expenses                                416,990        371,998        372,886
Camelot merger-related costs, net                                                --         25,473             --
Asset impairment charge and restructuring charge reversal, net                   --             --          1,537
                                                                     ---------------------------------------------
Income from operations                                                       80,245        102,073        111,651
Interest expense                                                              3,128          3,496          4,989
Other expense (income), net                                                  (6,543)        (4,086)        (2,221)
                                                                     ---------------------------------------------
Income before income taxes                                                   83,660        102,663        108,883
Income tax expense                                                           43,510         41,270         47,873
                                                                     ---------------------------------------------
NET INCOME                                                               $   40,150     $   61,393     $   61,010
                                                                     =============================================

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE                                                 $     0.84     $     1.17     $     1.19
                                                                     =============================================

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic                 47,597         52,457         51,105
                                                                     =============================================

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE                                               $     0.83     $     1.15     $     1.14
                                                                     =============================================

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted               48,498         53,354         53,530
                                                                     =============================================
</TABLE>

SEE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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             TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
                 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
                                 (IN THOUSANDS)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                               UNEARNED             ACCUM.
                                                              ADDITIONAL     COMPENSATION           OTHER
                                             COMMON    STOCK    PAID IN         STOCK     TREASURY  COMP.  RETAINED   
SHAREHOLDERS'
                                             SHARES    AMOUNT   CAPITAL         PLANS      STOCK    LOSS   EARNINGS      
EQUITY
                                             ---------------------------------------------------------------------
----------------
<S>                                           <C>       <C>     <C>             <C>     <C>       <C>      <C>          
<C>
Balance as of January 31, 1998
   as previously reported                     29,723    $ 297   $ 25,287        $ (175) $   (394) $    --  $ 99,507     
$ 124,522
Opening equity balances of Camelot upon
  adoption of "fresh-start" accounting        19,301      193    194,175            --        --       --        --       
194,368
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------
Balance as of January 31, 1998, as
   restated                                   49,024    $ 490  $ 219,462        $ (175) $   (394)      --  $ 99,507     
$ 318,890



Issuance of treasury stock under
  incentive stock programs                        --       --         10            --         4       --        --            
14
Stock issued                                      --       --        188            --        --       --        --           
188
Issuance of shares of common
   stock in a public offering                  2,250       23     36,600            --        --       --        --        
36,623
Amortization of unearned
  compensation - restricted stock                 --       --         --            44        --       --        --            
44
Issuance of director stock options                --       --        346            --        --       --        --           
346
Issuance of options under Camelot
   1998 Stock Option Plan                         --       --      5,112        (5,112)       --       --        --            
--
Amortization of unearned  compensation -
  Camelot 1998 Stock Option Plan                  --       --         --         5,112        --       --        --         
5,112
Forfeiture of unearned compensation -
   restricted stock                               --       --        (53)           53        --       --        --            
--
Exercise of stock options and related tax
  benefit                                        908        9     10,140            --        --       --        --        
10,149
Net Income                                        --       --         --            --        --       --    61,010        
61,010
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------
Balance as of January 30, 1999                52,182    $ 522   $271,805        $  (78) $   (390)      --  $160,517     
$ 432,376
Issuance of treasury stock under
  incentive stock programs                        --       --          9            --         4       --        --            
13
Repurchase of shares of treasury stock            --       --         --            --   (11,469)      --        --       
(11,469)
Issuance of restricted stock under
   incentive stock programs                       30       --        336          (336)       --       --        --            
--
Amortization of unearned
  compensation - restricted stock                 --       --         --            66        --       --        --            
66
Issuance of director stock options                --       --         64            --        --       --        --            
64
Exercise of stock options and related tax
  benefit                                      1,214       12     11,718            --        --       --        --        
11,730
Net Income                                        --       --         --            --        --       --    61,393        
61,393
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------
Balance as of January 29, 2000                53,426   $  534 $  283,932        $ (348) $(11,855)      --  $221,910     
$ 494,173
Comprehensive income:
   Net Income                                     --       --         --            --        --       --    40,150
   Unrealized loss on available for sale
     securities                                   --       --         --            --        --   (1,482)       --
   Total comprehensive income                                                                                              
38,668
Issuance of treasury stock under
  incentive stock programs                        --       --          6            --         4       --        --            
10
Repurchase of shares of treasury stock            --       --         --            --   (85,728)      --        --       
(85,728)
Forfeiture of unearned compensation -
   restricted stock                              (30)      --       (335)          335        --       --        --            
--
Amortization of unearned
  compensation - restricted stock                 --       --         --             7        --       --        --             
7
Issuance of director stock options                --       --        284            --        --       --        --           
284
Exercise of stock options and related tax
  benefit                                        281        3      1,405            --        --       --        --         
1,408

- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------
Balance as of February 3, 2001                53,677    $ 537   $285,292        $  (6)  $(97,579) $(1,482) $262,060     
$ 448,822
=====================================================================================================================
=============
</TABLE>

SEE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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             TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
                      CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
                                 (IN THOUSANDS)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                                          FISCAL YEAR ENDED
                                                                              ------------------------------------
-------
                                                                               FEBRUARY 3,    JANUARY 29,   JANUARY 
30,
                                                                                   2001          2000          1999
                                                                              ------------------------------------
-------
<S>                                                                                  <C>           <C>           
<C>
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income                                                                           $40,150       $61,393       
$61,010
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
  Depreciation and amortization                                                       38,433        37,709        
35,478
  Amortization of financing fees                                                          --            --           
253
  Amortization of lease valuations, net                                                 (712)       (2,765)         
(388)
  Reversal of restructuring charge                                                        --            --        
(2,157)
  Loss on impairment from fixed assets                                                    --         6,649         
3,694
  Stock compensation programs                                                            301           143         
5,568
  Loss on disposal of assets                                                           2,546         3,670         
1,560
  Write-off of investment in unconsolidated affiliate                                  2,100            --            
--
  Deferred tax expense                                                                (3,124)        8,251         
4,529
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:
  Accounts receivable                                                                 (2,753)         (173)         
(773)
  Merchandise inventory                                                               (7,766)      (11,285)      
(73,557)
  Prepaid expenses and other                                                            (230)        4,179        
(1,422)
  Other assets                                                                            45        (1,272)          
178
  Accounts payable                                                                    74,525       132,658        
17,788
  Income taxes payable                                                                 6,777        (6,261)       
26,461
  Accrued expenses and other                                                           4,612       (18,766)        
5,884
  Store closing reserve                                                                   --            --        
(6,535)
  Other liabilities                                                                   13,024        (1,996)          
135
                                                                              ------------------------------------
-------
Net cash provided by operating activities                                            167,928       212,134        
77,706
                                                                              ------------------------------------
-------

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
  Purchases of fixed assets                                                          (32,782)      (51,234)      
(57,143)
  Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired                                    (56,539)           --      
(103,264)
  Purchase of  investments in  unconsolidated affiliates                              (1,453)       (2,100)         
(235)
  Purchase of available for sale securities                                           (2,000)           --            
--
  Disposal of videocassette rental inventory, net of purchases                            98            23         
2,860
                                                                              ------------------------------------
-------
Net cash used by investing activities                                                (92,676)      (53,311)     
(157,782)
                                                                              ------------------------------------



-------

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
  Payments of long-term debt and financing fees                                           --       (22,000)      
(38,281)
  Proceeds from long-term debt                                                            --            --        
25,000
  Payments of capital lease obligations                                               (5,303)       (4,036)       
(1,292)
  Proceeds from capital leases                                                            --         9,941        
13,651
  Payments for purchases of treasury stock                                           (85,728)      (11,469)           
--
  Proceeds from public offering of common stock                                           --            --        
36,623
  Exercise of stock options                                                              837         9,356         
2,750
                                                                              ------------------------------------
-------
Net cash (used) provided by financing activities                                     (90,194)      (18,208)       
38,451
                                                                              ------------------------------------
-------

Opening cash balance of Camelot upon adoption of "fresh-start" accounting                 --            --        
86,304
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents                                 (14,942)      140,615       
(41,625)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year                                         280,026       139,411        
94,732
                                                                              ------------------------------------
-------
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year                                              $265,084      $280,026      
$139,411
                                                                              
===========================================
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
  Issuance of treasury stock under incentive stock programs                              $10           $13           
$14
  Issuance of restricted shares under restricted stock plan                               --           336            
--
  Income tax benefit resulting from exercises of stock options                           571         2,374         
7,347
</TABLE>

SEE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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             TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

NATURE OF OPERATIONS: Trans World Entertainment Corporation is one of the
largest specialty retailers of music, video and related accessories in the
United States. The Company operates in a single industry segment, the operation
of a chain of retail entertainment stores. At February 3, 2001, the Company
operated 984 stores in 46 states, the District of Columbia, Commonwealth of
Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands, with a majority of the stores
concentrated in the Eastern half of the United States.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION: The consolidated financial statements consist of Trans
World Entertainment Corporation, its wholly-owned subsidiary, Record Town, Inc.
("Record Town"), and Record Town's subsidiaries, all of which are wholly-owned.
All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. The
preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
On April 22, 1999, the Company merged with Camelot Music Holdings, Inc.
("Camelot"). The transaction was accounted for as a pooling-of-interests.
Accordingly, prior period consolidated financial statements have been restated
to include combined results of operations, financial position and cash flows of
Camelot as though it had been a part of the Company since Camelot's adoption of
"fresh-start" accounting on January 31, 1998.

ITEMS AFFECTING COMPARABILITY: The Company's fiscal year is a 52 or 53-week
period ending on the Saturday nearest to January 31. Fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998
ended February 3, 2001, January 29, 2000 and January 30, 1999, respectively, and
each fiscal year consisted of 52 weeks, except for fiscal year 2000, which
consisted of 53 weeks. The fifty-third week in 2000 increased sales by an



estimated $23.7 million, operating income by an estimated $4.0 million and net
income by an estimated $2.5 million or $0.05 per share.

REVENUE RECOGNITION: Revenue from sales of merchandise is recognized at the
point of sale to the consumer, at which time payment is tendered. There are no
provisions for uncollectible amounts since payment is received at the time of
sale.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS: The Company considers all highly liquid investments
purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISKS: The Company maintains centralized cash management
and investment programs whereby excess cash balances are invested in short-term
funds and money market instruments considered to be cash equivalents. The
Company's investment portfolio is diversified and consists of short-term
investment grade securities consistent with its investment guidelines. These
guidelines include the provision that sufficient liquidity will be maintained to
meet anticipated cash flow needs. The Company maintains cash and cash
equivalents with various financial institutions. At times, such amounts may
exceed the F.D.I.C. limits. The Company limits the amount of credit exposure
with any one financial institution and believes that no significant
concentration of credit risk exists with respect to cash investments.

CONCENTRATION OF BUSINESS RISKS: The Company purchases inventory for its stores
from approximately 660 suppliers, with approximately 71% of purchases being made
from five suppliers. In the past, the Company has not experienced difficulty in
obtaining satisfactory sources of supply, and management believes that it will
retain access to adequate sources of supply. However, a loss of a major supplier
could cause a loss of sales, which would have an adverse effect on operating
results and also result in a decrease in vendor support for the Company's
advertising programs.

MERCHANDISE INVENTORY AND RETURN COSTS: Inventory is stated at the lower of cost
or market as determined by the average cost method. The Company is entitled to
return merchandise purchased from major vendors for credit against other
purchases from these vendors. These vendors often reduce the credit with a
merchandise return charge ranging from 0% to 20% of the original merchandise
purchase price depending on the type of merchandise being returned. The Company
records the merchandise return charges in cost of sales.
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VIDEOCASSETTE RENTAL INVENTORY: The cost of videocassette rental tapes is
capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated economic
life with a provision for salvage value. Major movie release additions, which
have a relatively short economic life due to the frequency of rental, are
amortized over twelve months, while other titles are amortized over thirty-six
months. Depreciation and amortization expense related to the Company's
videocassette rental inventory totaling $816,000, $921,000 and $1.2 million in
fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively, is included in cost of sales.

FIXED ASSETS AND DEPRECIATION: Fixed assets are stated at cost. Major
improvements and betterments to existing facilities and equipment are
capitalized. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs that do not extend the
life of the applicable asset, are charged to expense as incurred. Buildings are
depreciated over a 30-year term. Fixtures and equipment are depreciated using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from
three to seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the
straight-line method over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the
related lease term. A majority of the Company's operating leases are ten years
in term. Amortization of capital lease assets is included in depreciation and
amortization expense.

IMPAIRMENT VALUE OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS: Fixed assets and other long-lived assets
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of
assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of
an asset to undiscounted future net cash flows expected to be generated by the
asset over its remaining useful life. If such assets are considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Fair value
is generally measured based on discounted estimated future cash flows. During
fiscal 1999, the Company recorded an impairment loss of $6.7 million as part of
the Camelot merger charge for the write-down of certain fixed assets acquired in
the merger. During fiscal 1998, the Company recorded an impairment loss of $3.7
million to write-down the carrying amount of fixed assets, primarily leasehold
improvements, at stores where the estimated future cash flows through the end of
the store's lease were less than the carrying amount of that store's fixed
assets.

GOODWILL: Goodwill represents the adjusted amount of the cost of acquisitions in
excess of fair value of net assets acquired in purchase transactions, and is
being amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging



from 10 to 20 years. The amortization period is determined by taking into
consideration the following factors: the critical market position and
establishment of brand names; the combined store mass of the companies; the
amortization periods generally used in the retail music business; the highly
competitive nature of the business including emerging forms of competition; and
the overall history of profitability of the acquired businesses. The Company
periodically evaluates the carrying amount of goodwill, as well as the related
amortization periods to determine whether adjustments to these amounts or useful
lives are required based on current events and circumstances. The Company
performs an analysis of the recoverability of goodwill using a cash flow
approach consistent with the analysis of the impairment of long-lived assets.

ADVERTISING COSTS: The costs of advertising are expensed in the first period in
which such advertising takes place. Total advertising expense was $22.3 million,
$18.8 million and $19.2 million in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

STORE OPENING AND CLOSING COSTS: Costs associated with opening a store are
expensed as incurred. When it is determined that a store will be closed,
estimated unrecoverable costs are charged to expense. Such costs include the net
book value of abandoned fixtures, equipment, leasehold improvements and a
provision for lease obligations, less estimated sub-rental income. The residual
value of any fixed asset moved to a store as part of a relocation is transferred
to the relocated store.

INCOME TAXES: Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future
tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date.
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: The Company accounts for comprehensive income in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 130,
"Reporting Comprehensive Income". SFAS No. 130 requires only additional
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements; it does not affect the
Company's financial position or results of operations. Comprehensive income
for 2000 consists of net income and net unrealized losses on available for
sale securities and is presented in the consolidated statements of
shareholders' equity. During 1999 and 1998, the Company did not have other
items of comprehensive income as defined by SFAS No. 130, and accordingly,
comprehensive income is equal to net income.

INVESTMENT SECURITIES: Certain investments are categorized as available for
sale securities in accordance with SFAS No. 115, "Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities", and are recorded at fair value
based upon quoted market prices. Unrealized gains and losses are excluded
from earnings and reflected in shareholders' equity until realized. Realized
gains and losses for available for sale securities are included in earnings
and are computed using the specific identification method for determining the
cost of securities sold. A decline in the market value of any available for
sale security below cost that is deemed other than temporary is charged to
earnings, resulting in the establishment of a new cost basis for the security.

As of February 3, 2001, the amortized cost, gross unrealized loss and fair
value of the Company's available for sale securities was $2.0 million, ($1.5
million) and $0.5 million, respectively.

EARNINGS PER SHARE: The Company accounts for earnings per share under the
provisions of SFAS No. 128, "Earnings per Share". This standard requires the
Company to disclose basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share.
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted
average common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share is
calculated by dividing net income by the sum of the weighted average shares
outstanding and additional common shares that would have been outstanding if the
dilutive potential common shares had been issued for the Company's common stock
options from the Company's Stock Option Plans (see Note 9). As required by SFAS
No. 128, all outstanding common stock options were included even though their
exercise may be contingent upon vesting. Weighted average shares are calculated
as follows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                                   Fiscal Year
                                                               ---------------------------------------------------
--
                                                                    2000                 1999               1998
                                                               --------------       --------------      ----------
--
<S>                                                                   <C>                  <C>               <C>
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic                    47,597               52,457            51,105



Dilutive effect of employee stock options                                901                  897             2,425
                                                               --------------       --------------      ----------
--
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted                  48,498               53,354            53,530
                                                               ==============       ==============      ============

Antidilutive stock options                                             3,232                1,707                32
                                                               ==============       ==============      ============
</TABLE>

Antidilutive stock options outstanding were excluded from the computation of
diluted earnings per share because the exercise price of the options was greater
than the average market price of the common shares during the period.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: The carrying amounts reported in the
consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and other current liabilities approximate fair value because
of the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

NOTE 2. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On October 30, 2000, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain
liabilities and operating lease commitments of 112 stores from Wax Works,
Inc., a privately-held music and video retailer. The stores operate under the
name "Disc Jockey" and are located primarily in mall locations throughout the
Midwest and Southern United States. The acquisition was accounted for using
the purchase method of accounting. The Company paid $49.8 million, net of
cash acquired, for the assets, including merchandise inventory, fixed assets,
leasehold interests and other related current assets. The Company recognized
approximately $10.2 million in goodwill related to the acquisition. The
goodwill is being amortized on a straight-line basis over a 15-year period.

On August 11, 2000, the Company acquired a majority interest in SecondSpin.com
for $4.2 million, net of cash acquired. The acquisition was accounted for under
the purchase method of accounting. SecondSpin.com operates on-line and in store
marketplaces for buying and selling of used CDs, videos and DVDs.
SecondSpin.com operates four stores in California and Colorado. In addition,
the Company provided SecondSpin.com $2.5 million in the form of convertible
debt to repay long-term obligations under a recapitalization agreement with
the other shareholders of SecondSpin.com The Company recognized approximately
$4.4 million in goodwill related to the acquisition. The goodwill is being
amortized on a straight-line basis over a 10-year period.
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On April 22, 1999, under the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated October 26,
1998, the Company acquired Camelot, a specialty retailer of prerecorded music,
videocassettes and DVDs, and related accessories, in a stock-for-stock
transaction accounted for as a pooling-of-interests. Camelot operated over 480
retail locations in 38 states, the District of Columbia and the Commonwealth of
Puerto Rico. Upon completion of the merger, Camelot became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. In the merger, each share of Camelot's common stock
was converted into 1.9 shares of the Company's common stock. Each outstanding
option to purchase Camelot common stock immediately prior to the completion of
the merger was converted into 1.9 fully vested and exercisable options to
acquire the Company's common stock. The exercise prices of these options were
adjusted accordingly for the 1.9 to 1 conversion ratio. As a result, the Company
issued approximately 19.3 million shares of its common stock and converted 1.3
million options to acquire its common stock. In connection with the merger, all
of Camelot's outstanding notes payable were repaid.

Effective July 29, 1998, Camelot acquired all of the outstanding common stock of
Spec's Music, Inc. ("Spec's") under the terms of an Agreement and Plan of Merger
dated June 3, 1998. Spec's is a retailer of prerecorded music in South
Florida and Puerto Rico. The Spec's acquisition was accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting. The total purchase price was $42.7 million, net
of cash acquired, including cash payment of $18.6 million, repayment of Spec's
indebtedness of $9.2 million, assumption of liabilities aggregating $14.0
million and acquisition costs of $900,000. The Company recognized approximately
$9.4 million in goodwill related to the acquisition. The goodwill is being
amortized on a straight-line basis over a 20-year period.

Effective February 28, 1998, Camelot acquired certain assets and assumed certain
liabilities and operating lease commitments of The Wall Music, Inc. ("The Wall")
pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement dated December 10, 1997. The purchase
price of The Wall was $74.6 million, net of cash acquired, (including
approximately $2.3 million of acquisition costs) and was paid in cash. The
acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The
Company recognized approximately $24.7 million in goodwill related to the
acquisition. The goodwill is being amortized on a straight-line basis over a
20-year period.

During 2000, 1999 and 1998, total amortization related to goodwill was $2.3
million, $2.4 million and $1.8 million, respectively.



NOTE 3. RESTRUCTURING CHARGE

The Company completed its 1995 restructuring program in fiscal 1998. The
remaining balance in the store closing reserve of $2.2 million was credited to
operations in the 4th quarter of fiscal 1998.

NOTE 4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                     February 3,      January 29,
                                                        2001             2000
                                                   ---------------  --------------
<S>                                                    <C>             <C>
Buildings                                              $   18,926      $   18,926
Fixtures and equipment                                    189,186         166,229
Leasehold improvements                                    111,057          99,903
                                                   ---------------  --------------
                                                          319,169         285,058
Allowances for depreciation and amortization             (166,428)       (140,364)
                                                   ---------------  --------------
                                                       $  152,741      $  144,694
                                                   ===============  ==============
</TABLE>

Depreciation and amortization expense related to the Company's distribution
center facility and equipment of $1.6 million in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998,
respectively, is included in cost of sales. All other depreciation and
amortization of fixed assets is included in selling, general and administrative
expenses. Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets is included in the
condensed consolidated statements of income as follows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                 Fiscal Year
                                                ----------------------------------------------
                                                     2000            1999            1998
                                                -------------- ---------------- --------------
                                                                (IN THOUSANDS)
<S>                                                 <C>              <C>            <C>
Cost of sales                                       $   1,637        $   1,612      $   1,567
                                                ============== ================ ==============
Selling, general and administrative expenses        $  34,567        $  33,732      $  30,552
                                                ============== ================ ==============
</TABLE>
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NOTE 5. DEBT

The Company's $100.0 million secured revolving credit facility with Congress
Financial Corporation expires in July 2003, and automatically renews on a
year-to-year basis thereafter at the discretion of both parties. The facility
bears interest at the prime interest rate or the Eurodollar interest rate plus
1.75% (7.4% at February 3, 2001), and is collateralized by the Company's assets
allowing the Company to borrow up to 65% of its eligible merchandise inventory
to a maximum of $100.0 million.

During fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, the highest aggregate balances outstanding
under the current and previous revolving credit facilities were $12.5 million,
$3.3 million and $35.0 million, respectively. The weighted average interest
rates during fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998 based on average daily balances were
9.50%, 7.44%, and 8.50%, respectively. The Company didn't have any balances
outstanding under the Company's revolving credit agreements at the end of fiscal
2000 and 1999.

Interest paid during fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998 was approximately $3.1 million,
$3.6 million and $4.4 million, respectively.

NOTE 6. INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense consists of the following:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                          FISCAL YEAR
                                                         --------------------------------------------
                                                                2000          1999           1998
                                                         --------------------------------------------
                                                                         (IN THOUSANDS)
<S>                                                           <C>           <C>           <C>
                Federal - current                             $  41,664     $  30,498     $   36,207
                State - current                                   4,970         2,521          7,137
                Deferred                                         (3,124)        8,251          4,529



                                                         --------------------------------------------
                                                              $  43,510     $  41,270     $   47,873
                                                         ============================================
</TABLE>

A reconciliation of the Company's effective tax rates with the federal statutory
rate is as follows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                           FISCAL YEAR
                                                         --------------------------------------------
                                                                2000           1999          1998
                                                         --------------------------------------------
<S>                                                               <C>            <C>           <C>
                Federal statutory rate                            35.0%          35.0%         35.0%
                State income taxes, net of
                    federal income tax effect                      0.8%           1.4%          4.4%
                Unearned compensation - stock options                --             --          1.9%
                Plan of reorganization adjustments                   --             --          2.2%
                Merger costs                                         --           3.6%            --
                Change in valuation allowance                      1.4%             --            --
                Corporate-owned life insurance
                    disallowance                                  13.1%             --            --
                Other                                              1.7%           0.2%          0.5%
                                                         --------------------------------------------
                Effective income tax rate                         52.0%          40.2%         44.0%
                                                         ============================================
</TABLE>

On October 16, 2000, the United States District Court for the District of
Delaware issued an opinion in favor of the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS"), in
the case of the IRS vs. CM Holdings Inc. ("Camelot"), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. The case was brought against Camelot by the IRS to challenge the
deduction of interest expense for certain tax years that ended on or before
February 1994, related to corporate-owned life insurance policies held by
Camelot. The court ruled that the interest deductions should not be allowed and
the Company is responsible for interest and penalties. As a result of the
ruling, the Company reserved $11.0 million during the fiscal year ended February
3, 2001. The Company has filed a notice of appeal in the United States Third
Circuit Court of Appeals in response to the decision.
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Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities are
as follows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                                      FEBRUARY 3,  JANUARY 29,
                                                                                          2001         2000
                                                                                      --------------------------
                                                                                            (IN THOUSANDS)
<S>                                                                                      <C>          <C>
                CURRENT DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
                Accrued expenses                                                         $   1,287    $   1,570
                Other                                                                          105           36
                                                                                      --------------------------
                Total current deferred tax assets                                            1,392        1,606
                                                                                      --------------------------

                CURRENT DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
                Inventory                                                                   10,593       13,632
                Prepaid expenses                                                                30          443
                                                                                      --------------------------
                Total current deferred tax liabilities                                      10,623       14,075
                                                                                      --------------------------

                Net current deferred tax liability                                       $  (9,231)   $ (12,469)
                                                                                      ==========================

                NON-CURRENT DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
                Fixed assets                                                             $  22,459    $  20,911
                Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards                           5,401        6,804
                Accrued rent                                                                 5,319        4,448
                Capitalized leases                                                           1,001          882
                Losses on investments                                                        1,396           --
                Accrued expenses                                                               220          820
                Amortization of lease valuations and other assets                            2,120        2,085
                Pension and compensation related accruals                                      739        1,423
                Other                                                                           --           11
                                                                                      --------------------------
                Total non-current deferred tax assets before valuation allowance            38,655       37,384
                Less: valuation allowance                                                   (1,396)          --



                                                                                      --------------------------
                Total non-current deferred tax assets                                    $  37,259    $  37,384
                                                                                      --------------------------

                NON-CURRENT DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
                Goodwill                                                                     2,942        2,953
                                                                                      --------------------------
                Total non-current deferred tax liabilities                               $   2,942    $   2,953
                                                                                      --------------------------

                Net non-current deferred tax asset                                       $  34,317    $  34,431
                                                                                      ==========================

                TOTAL NET DEFERRED TAX ASSET                                             $  25,086    $  21,962
                                                                                      ==========================
</TABLE>

At February 3, 2001 and January 29, 2000, the Company had gross deferred tax
assets of $40.0 million and $39.0 million, respectively, and gross deferred tax
liabilities of $13.6 million and $17.0 million, respectively. The Company had a
net operating loss carryforward of $8.1 million for Federal income tax purposes
as of the end of fiscal 2000 and approximately $87.6 million for state income
tax purposes as of the end of fiscal 2000 that expire at various times through
2014 and are subject to certain limitations. The state net operating loss
carryforwards are also subject to various business apportionment factors and
multiple jurisdictional requirements when utilized.

In assessing the propriety of deferred tax assets, management considers whether
it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets
will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is
dependent upon the generation of future taxable income. Management considers the
scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income
and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based upon the level of
projected future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred tax
assets are deductible, the valuation allowance was increased from $0 to $1.4
million, a level where management believes that it is more likely than not that
the tax benefit will be realized. The valuation allowance was increased to
reserve for deferred tax assets attributable to losses on investments. The
amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable could be reduced if
estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are reduced.
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The Company paid income taxes, net of refunds, of approximately $28.8 million,
$39.3 million and $17.1 million during fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

NOTE 7. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

On October 16, 2000, the United States District Court for the District of
Delaware issued an opinion in favor of the Internal Revenue Service, in the case
of the IRS vs. CM Holdings Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The
case was brought against Camelot by the IRS to challenge the deduction of
interest expense for certain tax years that ended on or before February 1994,
related to corporate-owned life insurance policies held by Camelot. The court
ruled that the interest deductions should not be allowed and the Company is
responsible for interest and penalties. As a result of the ruling, the Company
reserved $11.0 million during 2000, which is reflected in other (long-term)
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet as of February 3, 2001. The
Company has filed a notice of appeal in the United States Third Circuit Court
of Appeals in response to the decision.

On August 8, 2000, 30 Attorneys General served a complaint against the
Company, the five major music distributors and two other specialty retailers
in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York ("AG's
suit"). The complaint has been subsequently amended to add additional states
as plaintiffs and to reflect the transfer of the case to U.S. District Court
in Maine pursuant to the Multidistrict Litigation Rules. The AG's suit
alleges that the distributors and retailers conspired to violate the
anti-trust laws and to fix prices by requiring retailers to adhere to minimum
advertised prices in order to receive cooperative advertising funds from the
labels. The complaint alleges that consumers were damaged in an unspecified
amount and seeks treble damages and civil penalties. Following the services
of the AG's suit, these same defendants were named as defendants in private
class action suits ("Class Actions"), each with similar allegations as in the
AG's suit. The Class Actions have been consolidated along with the AG's suit
in the U.S. District Court in Maine. It is management's belief that the
lawsuit is without merit and the Company will ultimately prevail in this
regard.

The Company is subject to other legal proceedings and claims that have arisen in
the ordinary course of its business and have not been finally adjudicated.
Although there can be no assurance as to the ultimate disposition of these
matters, it is management's opinion, based upon the information available at
this time, that the expected outcome of these matters, individually or in the



aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the results of operations
and financial condition of the Company.

NOTE 8. LEASES

As more fully discussed in Note 11, the Company leases its distribution center
and administrative offices under three capital leases with its Chief Executive
Officer and largest shareholder. The Company also has a capital lease for its
point-of-sale system.
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Fixed asset amounts for capital leases, which are included in the fixed assets
on the accompanying balance sheets, are as follows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                  FEBRUARY 3,      JANUARY 29,
                                                     2001             2000
                                                 -----------------------------
                                                       (IN THOUSANDS)
<S>                                               <C>              <C>
                Buildings                         $     9,342      $    9,342
                Fixtures and equipment                 28,682          26,890
                                                 -----------------------------
                                                       38,024          36,232
                Allowances for depreciation
                   and amortization                   (16,266)        (10,729)
                                                 -----------------------------
                                                  $    21,758      $   25,503
                                                 =============================
</TABLE>

The Company leases substantially all of its stores, many of which contain
renewal options, for periods ranging from five to twenty-five years, with the
majority being ten years. Most leases also provide for payment of operating
expenses, real estate taxes and for additional rent based on a percentage of
sales.

Net rental expense was as follows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                      FISCAL YEAR
                                                  --------------------------------------------------
                                                         2000             1999             1998
                                                  --------------------------------------------------
                                                                     (IN THOUSANDS)
<S>                                                   <C>               <C>             <C>
                Minimum rentals                       $   118,029       $   108,818     $  102,130
                Contingent rentals                          2,372             2,957          1,310
                                                  -------------------------------------------------
                                                      $   120,401       $   111,775     $  103,440
                                                  =================================================
</TABLE>

Future minimum rental payments required under all leases that have initial or
remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year at February 3, 2001
are as follows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                OPERATING         CAPITAL
                                                  LEASES          LEASES
                                             ----------------------------------
                                                       (IN THOUSANDS)
<S>                                              <C>               <C>
                                        2001     $   114,724       $     7,807
                                        2002         106,396             6,318
                                        2003          95,929             2,994
                                        2004          79,360             1,679
                                        2005          61,967             1,679
                                  Thereafter         180,656            16,396
                                             ----------------------------------
             Total minimum payments required     $   639,032            36,873
                                             ================
         Less: amounts representing interest                            17,404
                                                             ------------------
     Present value of minimum lease payments                            19,469
                       Less: current portion                             5,702
                                                             ------------------
         Long-term capital lease obligations                       $    13,767
                                                             ==================
</TABLE>



NOTE 9. BENEFIT PLANS

401(k) SAVINGS PLAN

The Company offers a 401(k) Savings Plan to eligible employees meeting certain
age and service requirements. This plan permits participants to contribute up to
20% of their salary, including bonuses, up to the maximum allowable by Internal
Revenue Service regulations. Participants are immediately vested in their
voluntary contributions plus actual earnings thereon. Participant vesting of the
Company's matching and profit sharing contribution is based on the years of
service completed by the participant. Participants are fully vested upon the
completion of four years of service. All participant forfeitures of non-vested
benefits are used to reduce the Company's contributions in future
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years. The Company matching contribution totaled $943,000, $962,000 and $1.1
million in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

STOCK OPTION PLANS

The Company has four employee stock option plans, the 1986 Stock Option Plan,
the 1994 Stock Option Plan, the 1998 Stock Option Plan and the 1999 Stock Option
Plan (the "Plans"). The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors may
grant options to acquire shares of common stock to employees of the Company and
its subsidiaries at the fair market value of the common stock on the date of
grant. Under the Plans, options generally become exercisable commencing one year
from the date of grant in increments of 25% per year with a maximum term of ten
years. Options authorized for issuance under the Plans totaled 12.3 million. At
February 3, 2001, of the 10.8 million options remaining authorized for issuance
under the Plans, 4.9 million have been granted and are outstanding, 2.2 million
of which were vested and exercisable. Options available for future grants at
February 3, 2001 and January 29, 2000 were 2.6 million and 3.3 million,
respectively.

Under the terms of the Camelot merger agreement, all options issued under the
Camelot 1998 Stock Option Plan (the "Camelot Plan") were converted to Trans
World options. The Camelot Plan provided for the granting of either incentive
stock options or nonqualified stock options to purchase shares of the Company's
common stock. Vesting of the options was originally over a four-year period with
a maximum term of ten years. Based on the terms of the Camelot Plan, vesting was
accelerated based on the market performance of the Company's common stock
whereby 50% of the options vested on March 13, 1998. The remaining 50% vested on
April 22, 1999 in connection with the merger. At February 3, 2001, 100,700
options were outstanding and exercisable. The Company stopped issuing stock
options under the Camelot Stock Option Plan as of April 22, 1999. The Company
recognized $5.1 million in compensation expense during 1998, related to stock
options granted below the market price at the date of grant and accelerated
vesting.

The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding
under the Plans and the Camelot Plan at February 3, 2001:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                ------------------------------------------------   -------------------------------
                                                  OUTSTANDING                               EXERCISABLE
                                ------------------------------------------------   -------------------------------
                                                                       WEIGHTED                          WEIGHTED
                                                        AVERAGE         AVERAGE                           AVERAGE
                  EXERCISE                            REMAINING        EXERCISE                          EXERCISE
                PRICE RANGE              SHARES            LIFE           PRICE            SHARES           PRICE
             -------------------------------------------------------------------   -------------------------------
<S>             <C>                   <C>                  <C>           <C>           <C>                 <C>
               $ 1.21-$2.67             891,402             5.1          $ 1.59           891,402          $ 1.59
                 2.68- 5.33             477,427             4.9            4.21           371,034            4.27
                 5.34-10.67             513,500             9.7            9.24             2,500           10.00
                10.68-13.33           2,276,400             7.8           11.25           852,050           11.19
                13.34-16.00             568,025             8.2           15.19            83,433           15.01
                16.01-18.67             282,450             7.2           17.80           142,266           17.80
                18.68-23.75               2,000             7.8           23.75             1,000           23.75
                                ----------------                                   ---------------
             Total                    5,011,204             7.2          $ 9.48         2,343,685          $ 6.98
                                ================                                   ===============
</TABLE>

The Company also has a stock option plan for non-employee directors (the "1990
Plan"). Options under this plan are granted at an exercise price determined by
the Compensation Committee of the board of directors. Under the 1990 Plan,
options generally become exercisable commencing one year from the date of grant
in increments of 25% per year with a maximum term of ten years. As of February
3, 2001, there were 750,000 options authorized for issuance and 284,875 options
have been granted and are outstanding, 227,500 of which were vested and



exercisable. There are 413,909 shares of common stock reserved for possible
future option grants under the 1990 Plan.

Under the terms of the Camelot merger agreement, all options issued under the
Camelot Outside Director Stock Option Plan (the "Camelot Director Plan") were
converted to Trans World options. As of February 3, 2001, there were 4,750
options outstanding and exercisable under the Camelot Director Plan. During
1998, the Company recognized $234,000 in compensation expense based on the
market value of the stock on the date of grant in June 1998 in connection with
the initial grant of stock options under the Camelot Director Plan. The Company
no longer issues options under the Camelot Director Plan.

                                      F-15

The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding
under the two Director Plans at February 3, 2001:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                ------------------------------------------------   -------------------------------
                                                  OUTSTANDING                               EXERCISABLE
                                ------------------------------------------------   -------------------------------
                                                                       WEIGHTED                          WEIGHTED
                                                        AVERAGE         AVERAGE                           AVERAGE
                  EXERCISE                            REMAINING        EXERCISE                          EXERCISE
                PRICE RANGE              SHARES            LIFE           PRICE            SHARES           PRICE
             -------------------------------------------------------------------   -------------------------------
<S>            <C>                      <C>                <C>          <C>               <C>             <C>
               $ 1.19-$2.67              49,500             4.5          $ 1.64            49,500          $ 1.64
                 2.68- 5.33             129,375             4.8            3.45           112,125            3.50
                 5.34- 8.00              18,000             0.8            6.10            18,000            6.10
                 8.01-10.67              54,000             8.8            9.79            37,500            9.84
                10.68-13.33              28,625             8.2           11.94             9,500           11.75
                13.34-15.12              10,125             6.5           15.12             5,625           15.12
                                ----------------                                   ---------------
             Total                      289,625             5.7          $ 5.73           232,250          $ 4.95
                                ================                                   ===============
</TABLE>

The following tables summarize activity under the Stock Option Plans:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------
                                          EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS                      DIRECTOR STOCK OPTION 
PLANS
                                 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------
                                   Number of          Option        Weighted           Number of          Option        
Weighted
                                 Shares Subject    Price Range       Average        Shares Subject     Price Range       
Average
                                   To Option        Per Share    Exercise Price        To Option        Per Share    
Exercise Price
                                 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------
<S>                                   <C>         <C>                <C>                   <C>        <C>                
<C>
Balance January 31, 1998              5,516,596   $ 0.75-$11.20      $ 5.94                 258,000   $ 1.19-$9.14       
$ 3.93
Granted                                 529,600    13.88-26.67        17.61                  50,000    10.20-15.12        
11.65
Exercised                              (885,043)    0.75-10.92         3.08                 (22,500)    2.09-3.68          
3.15
Canceled                               (259,134)    1.21-17.79         4.64                      --         --             
--
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------
Balance January 30, 1999              4,902,019   $ 0.75-$26.67      $ 7.79                 285,500   $ 1.19-$15.12      
$ 5.34
Granted                               1,501,000    10.00-15.25        13.42                  29,000    12.22-12.96        
12.45
Exercised                            (1,194,899)    0.75-17.79         7.65                 (19,000)      10.92           
10.92
Canceled                               (143,733)    0.75-17.79         9.65                 (10,000)      12.22           
12.22
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------
Balance January 29, 2000              5,064,387   $ 1.21-$26.67      $ 9.44                 285,500   $ 1.19-$15.12      
$ 5.45
Granted                               1,633,800     8.25-12.06        10.34                  58,716     0.00-10.94         
7.52
Exercised                              (259,673)    1.20-10.92         3.12                 (21,216)    0.00-3.68          



1.30
Canceled                             (1,427,310)    1.21-26.67        11.47                 (33,375)    3.36-15.12         
9.28
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------
Balance February 3, 2001              5,011,204   $ 1.21-$23.75      $ 9.48                 289,625   $ 1.18-$15.12      
$ 4.95
                                 ===============                                    ================
</TABLE>

The per share weighted-average fair value of the stock options granted during
fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998 was $3.57, $5.01 and $6.48, respectively, using the
Black Scholes option pricing model, with the following weighted-average
assumptions;
2000 - expected dividend yield 0.0%, risk-free interest rate of 5.20%, expected
life of five years and stock volatility of 62%;
1999 - expected dividend yield 0.0%, risk-free interest rate of 6.47%, expected
life of five years and stock volatility of 72%;
1998 - expected dividend yield 0.0%, risk-free interest rate of 5.15%, expected
life of five years and stock volatility of 70%.
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The Company applies APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees", in accounting for its Plans and, accordingly, no compensation cost
has been recognized for its stock options in the financial statements for
employee stock options, which are issued at the closing stock price on the day
of grant. During fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, the Company recognized expenses of
$165,000, $64,000 and $57,000, respectively, for stock options issued to
non-employee directors at an exercise price below the closing stock price on the
date of grant. Had the Company determined compensation cost for employee stock
options based on fair value in accordance with SFAS No. 123, the Company's net
income would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                          FISCAL YEAR
                                                       ------------------------------------------------
                                                             2000             1999             1998
                                                       ------------------------------------------------
                                                            (in thousands, except per share amounts)
<S>                                                        <C>               <C>             <C>
            Net income, as reported                        $ 40,150          $ 61,393        $ 61,010
            Basic earnings per share, as reported          $   0.84          $   1.17        $   1.19
            Diluted earnings per share, as reported        $   0.83          $   1.15        $   1.14

            Pro forma net income                           $ 35,369          $ 57,621        $ 59,016
            Pro forma basic earnings per share             $   0.74          $   1.10        $   1.15
            Pro forma diluted earnings per share           $   0.73          $   1.08        $   1.10
</TABLE>

RESTRICTED STOCK PLAN

Under the 1990 Restricted Stock Plan, the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors is authorized to grant awards for up to 900,000 restricted shares of
common stock to executive officers and other key employees of the Company and
its subsidiaries. The shares are issued as restricted stock and are held in the
custody of the Company until all vesting restrictions are satisfied. If
conditions or terms under which an award is granted are not satisfied, the
shares are forfeited. Shares begin to vest under these grants after three years
and are fully vested after five years, with vesting criteria which includes
continuous employment until applicable vesting dates have expired. As of
February 3, 2001, a total of 255,000 shares have been granted, of which 180,000
of these shares had vested and 60,000 shares with an unamortized unearned
compensation balance of $388,000, had been forfeited. Unearned compensation is
recorded at the date of award, based on the market value of the shares, and is
included as a separate component of shareholders' equity and is amortized over
the applicable vesting period. The amount amortized to expense in fiscal 2000,
1999 and 1998, net of the impact of forfeitures, was approximately $7,000,
$66,000 and $44,000, respectively. At February 3, 2001, outstanding awards and
shares available for grant totaled 15,000 and 705,000, respectively.

SUPPLEMENTAL EXECUTIVE RETIREMENT PLAN

The Company maintains a non-qualified Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
(SERP) for certain executive officers of the Company. The SERP, which is
unfunded, provides eligible executives defined pension benefits that supplement
benefits under other retirement arrangements. The annual benefit amount has been
predetermined as part of the plan and vests based on years of service and age at
retirement. The Company accounts for the SERP in accordance with the provisions
of SFAS No. 87, "Employers' Accounting for Pensions". For fiscal 2000, 1999 and
1998, net periodic pension costs recognized under the plan totaled approximately
$492,000, $481,000 and $342,000, respectively. The projected and accumulated
benefit obligation for the SERP was approximately $3.9 million and $3.6 million



at February 3, 2001 and January 29, 2000, respectively, which is included in
accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheet. In addition, an intangible
asset of approximately $2.3 million and $2.5 million were recorded at February
3, 2001 and January 29, 2000, respectively, which is included in other assets in
the consolidated balance sheet, to reflect the excess of the accumulated benefit
obligation over the fair value of plan assets ($0), net of accrued pension
costs.
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NOTE 10. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

On January 7, 2000, the Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase plan
authorizing the purchase of up to 5.0 million shares of the Company's common
stock. During fiscal 2000, the Board of Directors approved the repurchase of up
to an additional 10.0 million shares. As of February 3, 2001, the Company had
purchased 10.5 million of the 15.0 million shares authorized by the Board, at a
total cost of $85.7 million. At February 3, 2001 and January 29, 2000, the
Company held 10,568,432 and 1,177,432 shares, respectively, in treasury stock.

On July 31, 1998, the Board of Directors approved a three-for-two common stock
split to be distributed in the form of a 50% stock dividend. As a result,
10,937,104 shares were issued on September 15, 1998 to shareholders of record on
September 1, 1998. Accordingly, amounts equal to the par value of the additional
shares issued have been charged to additional paid in capital and credited to
common stock. All references throughout these financial statements to number of
shares, per share amounts, stock option data and market prices of the Company's
common stock have been adjusted to reflect this stock split.

On May 1, 1998, the Company sold an additional 2.25 (adjusted) million shares of
its common stock in a public offering for approximately $36.6 million net of
issuance costs. A portion of the proceeds was used to repay long-term debt and
the balance of the proceeds was used for general corporate purposes including
investments in additional stores, fixtures and inventory.

NOTE 11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company leases its 168,400 square foot distribution center/office facility
in Albany, New York from Robert J. Higgins, its Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer and largest shareholder, under three capitalized leases that expire in
the year 2015. The original distribution center/office facility was constructed
in 1985. A 77,100 square foot distribution center expansion was completed in
October 1989 on real property adjoining the existing facility. A 19,100 square
foot expansion was completed in September 1998 adjoining the existing facility.

Under the three capitalized leases, dated April 1, 1985, November 1, 1989 and
September 1, 1998 (the "Leases"), the Company paid Mr. Higgins an annual rent of
$1.7 million, $1.6 million and $1.4 million in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998,
respectively. On January 1, 2000, the aggregate rental payment increased in
accordance with the biennial increase in the Consumer Price Index, pursuant to
the provisions of each lease. Effective January 1, 2002, and every two years
thereafter, the rental payment increases in accordance with the biennial
increase in the Consumer Price Index, pursuant to the provisions of the lease.
None of the leases contains any real property purchase option at the expiration
of its term. Under the terms of the Leases, the Company pays all property taxes,
insurance and other operating costs with respect to the premises. Mr. Higgins'
obligation for principal and interest on his underlying indebtedness relating to
the real property is approximately $1.1 million per year.

The Company leases two of its retail stores from Mr. Higgins under long-term
leases. Under the first store lease, annual rent payments were $40,000 in fiscal
2000, 1999 and 1998. Under the second store lease, annual rent payments were
$35,000 in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998. Under the terms of the leases, the
Company pays property taxes, maintenance and a contingent rental if a specified
sales level is achieved. Total additional charges for both locations, including
contingent rent, was approximately $14,700, $17,700 and $18,100 in fiscal 2000,
1999 and 1998, respectively. In fiscal 1998, the Company paid Mr. Higgins
$30,000 under one-year operating leases expiring on October 31, 1998, for
certain parking facilities contiguous to the Company's distribution
center/office facility. This lease was not renewed upon its expiration on
October 31, 1998.

The Company regularly utilizes privately chartered aircraft owned or partially
owned by Mr. Higgins. Under an unwritten agreement with Quail Aero Services of
Syracuse, Inc., a corporation in which Mr. Higgins is a one-third shareholder,
the Company paid $75,000, $110,000 and $65,000 for chartered aircraft services
in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. The Company also charters an
aircraft from Crystal Jet, a corporation wholly-owned by Mr. Higgins. Payments
to Crystal Jet aggregated $85,000, $64,000 and $180,000 in fiscal 2000, 1999 and
1998, respectively. The Company also charters an aircraft from Richmor Aviation,
an unaffiliated corporation that leases an aircraft owned by Mr. Higgins.
Payments to Richmor Aviation in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998 were $217,000,
$325,000 and $0, respectively. The Company believes that the charter rates and
terms are as favorable to the Company as those generally available to it from



other commercial charters.
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During 2000, the Company made loans aggregating $334,000 and $85,000 to John J.
Sullivan, the Company's Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, and
Bruce J. Eisenberg, the Company's Senior Vice President - Real Estate,
respectively. The loans were in connection with income taxes due on the vesting
of restricted stock. The full principal amount of the loans was outstanding on
February 3, 2001. The loans bear interest at a rate of 5.88% per annum.

In September 1999, in connection with the hiring of former President and Chief
Operating Officer, Michael J. Madden, the Company made a $200,000 interest-free
loan which was repaid subsequent to February 3, 2001.

NOTE 12. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                          ------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------
                                                                      FISCAL 2000 QUARTER ENDED
                                          ------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------
                                                     2000          2/03/01        10/28/00          7/29/00         
4/29/00
                                          ------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------
                                                              (in thousands, except per share amounts)
<S>                                           <C>              <C>             <C>              <C>             <C>
     Sales                                    $ 1,414,589      $   553,366     $   265,597      $   285,510     $   
310,116
     Gross profit                                 497,235          190,693          91,701          103,997         
110,844
     Net income (loss)                             40,150           40,097         (15,596)           6,667           
8,982
     Basic earnings (loss) per share          $      0.84      $      0.91     $     (0.32)     $      0.14     $      
0.18
                                          ------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------
     Diluted earnings (loss) per share        $      0.83      $      0.89     $     (0.32)     $      0.14     $      
0.18
                                          ------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------

<CAPTION>
                                          ------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------
                                                                      FISCAL 1999 QUARTER ENDED
                                          ------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------
                                                     1999          1/29/00        10/30/99          7/31/99          
5/1/99
                                          ------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------
                                                              (in thousands, except per share amounts)
<S>                                           <C>              <C>             <C>              <C>             <C>
     Sales                                    $ 1,358,132      $   517,870     $   275,968      $   277,275     $   
287,019
     Gross profit                                 499,544          195,049          96,981          102,570         
104,944
     Net income (loss)                             61,393           60,569           3,777            5,691          
(8,644)
     Basic earnings (loss) per share          $      1.17      $      1.15     $      0.07      $      0.11     $     
(0.17)
                                          ------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------
     Diluted earnings (loss) per share        $      1.15      $      1.12     $      0.07      $      0.11     $     
(0.17)
                                          ------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------
</TABLE>
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                            ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

      Agreement made as of September 9, 2000 among Trans World Entertainment
Corporation, a New York corporation with its principal office at 38 Corporate
Circle, Albany, NY 12203 (the "BUYER"), Wax Works, Inc., a Kentucky corporation
with its principal office at 325 E. Third Street, Owensboro, Kentucky 42303 (the
"SELLER"), and Terry Woodward, a natural person and the sole stockholder of the
Seller (the "PRINCIPAL").

                              PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

      The Buyer desires to purchase, and the Seller desires to sell,
substantially all of the assets of the Seller which relate to its retail audio
business including the retail stores identified on Schedule 2.8 (the "AUDIO
BUSINESS"), for the consideration set forth below and the assumption of certain
of the Seller's liabilities set forth below, subject to the terms and conditions
of this Agreement.

      NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises hereinafter set
forth and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby
acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:

      1.    SALE AND DELIVERY OF THE ASSETS

      1.1.  DELIVERY OF THE ASSETS.

      (a)   Subject to and upon the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at



the closing of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the "CLOSING"),
the Seller shall sell, transfer, convey, assign and deliver to the Buyer, and
the Buyer shall purchase from the Seller, the following properties, assets and
other claims, rights and interests (but not including the Excluded Assets, as
defined below):

            (i) all Store inventories and warehouse facility inventories held
      for future sale in the Stores (collectively, the "INVENTORY") on the date
      of the Inventory Count (as defined below) as adjusted pursuant to Section
      1.7(b);

            (ii) all office supplies, maintenance supplies, packaging materials,
      spare parts and similar items of the Seller designated for use in the
      Stores (collectively, the "SUPPLIES");

            (iii) opening cash for each Store in the amounts set forth on
      Schedule 1.1(a)(iii) and deposits relating to the Stores (including the
      deposits described on Schedule 2.20), existing on the Closing Date;

            (iv) all rights of the Seller under the contracts, agreements,
      leases, licenses and other instruments set forth on Schedule 2.15 attached
      hereto other than such rights under contracts, agreements, leases,
      licenses and other instruments included on Schedule 1.1(b) (collectively,
      the "CONTRACT RIGHTS");

            (v) all funds, discounts or other incentives provided to the Seller
      in respect of cooperative advertising arrangements relating to any portion
      of the Inventory (the "COOPERATIVE ADVERTISING INCENTIVES");

            (vi) copies of all books, records and accounts, manuals, customer
      lists, customer records, employment records, studies, reports or summaries
      relating in whole or in part to or arising in whole or in part out of the
      operation of the Stores;

            (vii) all rights of the Seller under express or implied warranties
      from the suppliers or other third party service or product providers to
      the Audio Business to the extent relating or applicable to the items
      described in this Section 1.1(a);

            (viii) all of the machinery, equipment, furniture, fixtures,
      software, interior and exterior signs and signage, leasehold improvements,
      construction in progress and all other store assets, real and personal,
      located at or related to the Stores and owned by the Seller on the Closing
      Date whether or not reflected as capital assets in the accounting records
      of the Seller (collectively, the "FIXED Assets");

            (ix) except as disclosed on Schedule 1.1(a)(ix), all general
      intangibles of the Seller used in the Audio Business or in the operation
      of the Stores including, without limitation, trademarks, trademark
      licenses, patents, trade names, URLs and trade systems (collectively, the
      "INTANGIBLE PROPERTY"); and

            (x) except as specifically provided in Section 1.1(b) hereof, all
      other assets, properties, claims, rights and interests of the Seller which
      exist on the Closing Date, of every kind and nature and description,
      whether tangible or intangible, real, personal or mixed, which relate to
      the Stores.

      (b)   Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 1.1(a), the properties,
assets and business to be transferred to the Buyer under this Agreement shall
not include:

            (i) the Seller's warehouse facility located at 325 E. Third Street,
      Owensboro, Kentucky or any of the goods therein located that are not a
      part of the Inventory and the Supplies;

            (ii) any assets comprising a part of the Seller's video wholesale
      business (the "VIDEO WHOLESALE BUSINESS") as conducted on the Closing
      Date; PROVIDED that all of the assets described in Section 1.1(a) shall be
      deemed not to comprise a part of the Video Wholesale Business;

            (iii) amounts owed to the Seller or any claims or causes of action
      by the Seller against third parties relating to the Audio Business or any
      of the Leases or other Contract Rights, in any such case arising prior to
      the Closing;

            (iv) any capital stock of the Seller or the Seller's corporate
      minute books;

            (v) any bank accounts of the Seller;

            (vi) the name "Wax Works", "Video Works" or derivations thereof;

            (vii) any of the Seller's insurance policies;



            (viii) any assets used principally by the Seller to provide
      Corporate Services to the Stores in the ordinary course of business; and

            (ix) any other assets of the Seller listed on Schedule 1.1(b)
      attached hereto (together with the assets described in clauses 1.1(b)(i)
      through 1.1(b)(viii), the "EXCLUDED ASSETS").

      (c)   The Inventory, Supplies, Contract Rights, Cooperative Advertising
Incentives, Fixed Assets, Intangible Property and other properties, assets and
business of the Seller described in Section 1.1(a), other than the Excluded
Assets, shall be referred to collectively as the "ASSETS."
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      1.2.  FURTHER ASSURANCES. At any time and from time to time before and
after the Closing, at the request of any party and without further
consideration, each party promptly shall execute and deliver such instruments of
sale, transfer, conveyance, assignment, assumption and confirmation, and take
such other action, as may be reasonably requested to more effectively carry out
the purpose and intent of this Agreement.

      1.3.  PURCHASE PRICE.

      (a)   The purchase price for all of the Assets of the Seller shall be
$52,400,000 (the "BASE PURCHASE PRICE"), plus the amount of the Rent and Tax
Adjustment to which Seller is entitled under Section 1.7(a), plus or minus, as
the case may be, the amount of any Inventory adjustment pursuant to Section
1.7(b), plus or minus, as the case may be, the amount of any Fixed Assets
adjustment pursuant to Section 1.7(c), minus the amount of the Cooperative
Advertising Adjustment, plus the aggregate amount of the Provisioning
Expenditures, plus the Assumed Liabilities. The Base Purchase Price, plus the
amount of the Rent and Tax Adjustment to which the Seller is entitled under
Section 1.7(a), plus or minus, as the case may be, the amount of any Inventory
adjustment pursuant to Section 1.7(b), plus or minus, as the case may be, the
amount of any Fixed Assets adjustment pursuant to Section 1.7(c), minus the
amount of the Cooperative Advertising Adjustment, plus the aggregate amount of
the Provisioning Expenditures is collectively referred to herein as the "CASH
CONSIDERATION."

      (b)   At the Closing, the Buyer shall deliver to the Seller immediately
available funds in the amount of the Base Purchase Price, plus the Rent and Tax
Adjustment, plus or minus, as the case may be, the amount of any Fixed Assets
adjustment pursuant to Section 1.7(c), minus the amount of the Cooperative
Advertising Adjustment, plus the aggregate amount of the Provisioning
Expenditures.

      1.4.  ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES; ETC.

      (a)   At the Closing, the Buyer shall assume and execute and deliver an
Instrument of Assumption of Liabilities (the "INSTRUMENT OF ASSUMPTION") in a
form reasonably satisfactory to the Buyer, pursuant to which it shall assume and
agree to timely perform, pay and discharge the following liabilities,
obligations and commitments of the Seller, to the extent such liabilities,
obligations and commitments relate exclusively to the Assets, and not to the
Excluded Assets (the "ASSUMED LIABILITIES"):

            (i) All liabilities, obligations and commitments, fixed or
      contingent, of the Seller accruing or arising after the Closing under the
      Contracts pursuant to which the Buyer is acquiring Contract Rights, which
      obligations become due and payable or are otherwise required to be
      performed after the Closing Date;

            (ii) All liabilities, obligations and commitments, fixed or
      contingent, of the Seller relating to the Cooperative Advertising
      Incentives;

            (iii) All customer liabilities, obligations and commitments, fixed
      or contingent, of the Seller arising out of the operation of the Stores in
      the ordinary course of business, including returns, accommodations and
      gift certificates;

            (iv) All liabilities and obligations of the Seller in respect of
      inventory ordered by the Seller prior to the Closing Date and received by
      the Buyer after the date of the Inventory Count; and

            (v) All liabilities and obligations of the Seller specifically and
      expressly assumed by the Buyer elsewhere in this Agreement.
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      (b)   In addition, as to each of the Leases, subject to obtaining the
required consents, waivers and approvals set forth on Schedule 2.3 with respect



to each such Lease, the Seller and the Buyer shall execute and deliver to each
other a Lease Assignment (each a "LEASE ASSIGNMENT") in the form of Exhibit A,
as modified to include such terms, provisions and conditions which are required
pursuant to the applicable Lease, and the Buyer shall cause an executed copy of
each Lease Assignment to be sent to the respective landlord under the subject
Lease as soon as practicable after the Closing.

      (c)   Except as otherwise expressly and specifically set forth in this
Agreement, the Buyer shall not at the Closing assume or agree to perform, pay or
discharge, and the Seller shall remain unconditionally liable for, all
obligations, liabilities and commitments, fixed or contingent, of the Seller
(including, without limitation, all liabilities relating to Taxes) other than
the Assumed Liabilities, whether or not arising out of the Audio Business, and
including, without limitation, all obligations, liabilities and commitments,
fixed and contingent, accruing or arising before the Closing, relating to any
operations or activities conducted at any Store Property prior to the Closing,
or otherwise relating to the Excluded Assets.

      1.5.  ALLOCATION OF PURCHASE PRICE. The aggregate amount of the Base
Purchase Price and the Assumed Liabilities shall be allocated among the Assets
as set forth on Schedule 1.5 attached hereto. Such allocation shall be subject
to adjustment to the extent of the Rent and Tax Adjustment, Inventory
adjustment, Fixed Asset adjustment, Cooperative Advertising Adjustment or
Provisioning Expenditures adjustment provided for in Section 1.7.

      1.6.  THE CLOSING. The Closing shall take place on or before November 30,
2000, at the offices of Cahill Gordon & Reindel, 80 Pine Street, New York, New
York 10005, at such time or date as may be mutually agreed upon by the parties
hereto. The transfer of the Assets by the Seller to the Buyer and the assumption
of the Assumed Liabilities by the Buyer shall be deemed to occur at 12:00 a.m.,
New York time, on the date of the Closing (the "CLOSING DATE").

      1.7.  APPORTIONMENT AND ADJUSTMENTS.

            (a) (i) The purchase price of the Assets shall not be subject to any
      adjustment for any prepaid expenses of the Seller, including without
      limitation: (A) prepaid premiums on insurance, (B) water and sewer use
      charges or (C) transfer taxes and recording fees, if any, incurred in
      connection with the transfer of the Assets contemplated hereby, and such
      prepaid amounts, if any, shall not be added to or deducted from the
      purchase price. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Seller shall be
      entitled to a proportionate adjustment in respect of prepaid rent
      (including any customary charges to the extent provided for in any given
      Lease such as, but without limitation, percentage rent, utilities,
      operating expenses and common area maintenance charges, however
      denominated) and prepaid real and personal property taxes (the "RENT AND
      TAX ADJUSTMENT"), each as determined in accordance with generally accepted
      accounting principles, as of the Closing Date, which amount shall be added
      to the cash portion of the purchase price deliverable at the Closing. The
      Seller shall deliver at or prior to the Closing the estimated calculation
      of the Rent and Tax Adjustment, which shall be attached hereto as Schedule
      1.7(a) and shall constitute the Seller's and the Principal's reasonable
      good faith estimate of such calculation.

            (ii) Eighteen months after the Closing Date, the Buyer shall
      determine the actual calculation of the proportionate amount of prepaid
      rent (including any customary charges to the extent provided for in any
      given Lease such as, but without limitation, percentage rent, utilities,
      operating expenses and common area maintenance charges, however
      denominated) and prepaid real and personal property taxes (the "REVISED
      RENT AND TAX ADJUSTMENT"), each as determined in accordance with generally
      accepted accounting principles, as of the Closing Date, based on the
      actual invoices received by the Buyer through the date of calculation and,
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      where such invoices have not been provided to the Buyer, the Buyer's
      reasonable good faith estimates. The Buyer shall deliver such calculation
      to the Seller, along with copies of such invoices and estimates as are
      reasonably necessary for the Seller to confirm the Buyer's calculation of
      the Revised Rent and Tax Adjustment.

                  (A) If the Seller shall not object in writing to the Buyer's
            calculation of the Revised Rent and Tax Adjustment within thirty
            (30) days of receiving the Buyer's calculation of the revised Rent
            and Tax Adjustment, (I) if the Rent and Tax Adjustment exceeds the
            Revised Rent and Tax Adjustment by more than $25,000, then the
            Seller shall remit to the Buyer, no later than fourteen (14) days
            after receiving the Buyer's calculation of the Revised Rent and Tax
            Adjustment, in immediately available funds, the amount by which the
            Rent and Tax Adjustment exceeds the Revised Rent and Tax Adjustment
            less $25,000 or (II) if the Revised Rent and Tax Adjustment exceeds
            the Rent and Tax Adjustment by more than $25,000, then the Buyer
            shall remit to the Seller, no later than seven (7) days after the



            later of (x) the Seller advising the Buyer in writing of its
            agreement with the Buyer's calculation or (y) the thirtieth (30th)
            day after delivering its calculation to the Seller if the Seller
            shall not have objected prior to such time, the amount by which the
            Revised Rent and Tax Adjustment exceeds the Rent and Tax Adjustment
            less $25,000.

                  (B) If the Seller disputes the amount calculated by the Buyer,
            the Seller shall serve a written notice of objection on the Buyer
            within thirty (30) days after receiving the Buyer's calculation. The
            notice shall specify in reasonable detail the items disputed and
            shall describe in reasonable detail the basis for the objection and
            all information in the possession of the Seller which forms the
            basis thereof, as well as the amount in dispute. The parties shall
            consult with each other with respect to the objection. If the
            parties are unable to reach agreement within fourteen (14) days
            after the notice has been given, any unresolved disputed items shall
            be promptly referred to Arthur Andersen LLP (the "UNRELATED
            ACCOUNTING FIRM"). The Unrelated Accounting Firm shall be directed
            to render a written report on the unresolved disputed issues as
            promptly as practicable and to resolve only those issues of dispute
            set forth in the notice. The resolution of the dispute by the
            Unrelated Accounting Firm shall be final and binding on the parties.
            Any required payment shall be made within seven (7) days of the
            resolution of the dispute by the Unrelated Accounting Firm. The fees
            and expenses of the Unrelated Accounting Firm shall be borne equally
            by the parties.

            (iii) At all times after the Closing Date, the Buyer shall perform
      all obligations contained in the Leases with respect to the payment of
      rent or other charges, regardless of whether such rent or other charges
      are ultimately allocable to the Seller pursuant to this Section 1.7(a).

            (b) (i) The Buyer shall, within 2 days after the Closing Date, cause
      RGIS (or, to the extent that RGIS is unavailable, WIS) to perform a
      physical count of the Inventory (the "INVENTORY COUNT"). The Seller shall
      be permitted to have its representatives present during the Inventory
      Count; PROVIDED that the Seller's representatives shall not interfere with
      the activities of RGIS or WIS, as the case may be. Such Inventory Count
      shall be adjusted by the Buyer to be as of the Closing Date. The fees,
      costs and expenses of the inventory service shall be shared equally by the
      Buyer and the Seller. The Inventory Count will classify the Inventory into
      three subcategories: "AUDIO INVENTORY," which shall consist of
      pre-recorded full length compact discs and cassette tapes other than
      Deleted Inventory; "VIDEO INVENTORY," which shall consist of pre-recorded
      digital video discs and VHS video cassettes; and "OTHER INVENTORY," which
      shall consist of all Inventory other than Audio Inventory and Video
      Inventory generally carried for sale in the Stores including, but not
      limited to, Deleted Inventory, pre-recorded compact disc and cassette
      singles, blank audio and video tapes, cleaning accessories, video game
      hardware and software, consumer electronics, media storage, posters,
      boutique items and t-shirts. Each item within each classification of
      Inventory will then be valued according to the methodol-
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      ogy of Inventory Valuation set forth on Schedule 1.7(b) and an aggregate
      Inventory value will then be calculated on such basis (the "INVENTORY
      VALUATION"). If the Inventory Valuation exceeds $32,400,000 (the "BASE
      INVENTORY AMOUNT"), the Buyer shall remit to the Seller, no later than 14
      days after the Closing Date, in immediately available funds, an amount
      equal to the amount by which the Inventory Valuation exceeds the Base
      Inventory Amount. If the Base Inventory Amount exceeds the Inventory
      Valuation, the Seller shall remit to the Buyer, no later than 14 days
      after the Closing Date, in immediately available funds, an amount equal to
      the amount by which the Base Inventory Amount exceeds the Inventory
      Valuation. "DELETED INVENTORY" shall mean those pre-recorded compact discs
      and cassettes designated as such on Schedule 1.7(b).

            (ii) If the Seller disputes the Inventory Valuation, the Seller
      shall serve a written notice of objection on the Buyer within fourteen
      (14) days after the date of delivery of the Inventory Count to the Seller.
      The notice shall specify in reasonable detail the items disputed and shall
      describe in reasonable detail the basis for the objection and all
      information in the possession of the Seller which forms the basis thereof,
      as well as the amount in dispute. The parties shall consult with each
      other with respect to the objection. If the parties are unable to reach
      agreement within fourteen (14) days after the notice has been given, any
      unresolved disputed items shall be promptly referred to the Unrelated
      Accounting Firm. The Unrelated Accounting Firm shall be directed to render
      a written report on the unresolved disputed issues as promptly as
      practicable and to resolve only those issues of dispute set forth in the
      notice. The resolution of the dispute by the Unrelated Accounting Firm
      shall be final and binding on the parties. Any required payment shall be



      made within seven (7) days of the resolution of the dispute by the
      Unrelated Accounting Firm. The fees and expenses of the Unrelated
      Accounting Firm shall be borne equally by the parties.

            (c)   At the Closing, the Seller shall deliver an update to Schedule
2.9 to reflect changes to the Fixed Assets between the date of this Agreement
and the Closing Date. If the book value of the Fixed Assets as of the Closing
Date (the "FIXED ASSETS BOOK VALUE") exceeds $13,000,000 (the "BASE FIXED ASSETS
AMOUNT"), the Buyer shall remit to the Seller an amount equal to the amount by
which the Fixed Asset Book Value exceeds the Base Fixed Assets Amount, which
shall be added to the cash portion of the purchase price deliverable at the
Closing. If the Base Fixed Assets Amount exceeds the Fixed Assets Book Value,
the Buyer may subtract from the cash portion of the purchase price deliverable
at the Closing an amount equal to the amount by which the Base Fixed Assets
Amount exceeds the Fixed Assets Book Value.

      (d)   At the Closing, the Seller shall deliver Schedule 1.7(d) to this
Agreement, which shall detail the amount of and related Inventory for all
Cooperative Advertising Incentives received by the Seller with respect to which
the Seller has not completed or caused to be completed the promotional
activities contemplated thereby. The Buyer may subtract from the cash portion of
the purchase price deliverable at the Closing an amount equal to the aggregate
amount of all Cooperative Advertising Incentives detailed on Schedule 1.7(d)
(the "COOPERATIVE ADVERTISING ADJUSTMENT").

      (e)   At the Closing, the Seller shall deliver Schedule 1.7(e) to this
Agreement, which shall set forth in reasonable detail, segregated by reference
to each Store Under Construction, the actual expenditures (the "PROVISIONING
EXPENDITURES") of the Seller in connection with provisioning each of the Stores
Under Construction, excluding any Fixed Assets and Inventory attributable to
such Stores Under Construction. The Seller shall also make available to the
Buyer such invoices as are reasonably necessary to confirm the calculations set
forth on Schedule 1.7(e). The aggregate Provisioning Expenditures shall be added
to the cash portion of the purchase price deliverable at the Closing.

      (f)   If the Buyer disputes any amounts calculated or presented by the
Seller under Section 1.7(c), (d) or (e) above, the Buyer shall serve a written
notice on the Seller within sixty (60) days after the Closing Date. Any notice
shall specify in reasonable detail the items disputed and shall describe in
reasonable detail the basis for the objection
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and all information in the possession of the Buyer which forms the basis
thereof, as well as the amount in dispute. The parties shall consult with each
other with respect to the objection. If the parties are unable to reach
agreement within fourteen (14) days after the notice has been given, any
unresolved disputed items shall be promptly referred to the Unrelated Accounting
Firm. The Unrelated Accounting Firm shall be directed to render a written report
on the unresolved disputed issues as promptly as practicable and to resolve only
those issues of dispute set forth in the notice. The resolution of the dispute
by the Unrelated Accounting Firm shall be final and binding on the parties. Any
required payment shall be made within seven (7) days of the resolution of the
dispute by the Unrelated Accounting Firm. The fees and expenses of the Unrelated
Accounting Firm shall be borne equally by the parties.

      2.    REPRESENTATIONS OF THE SELLER AND THE PRINCIPAL

      The Seller and the Principal, jointly and severally, represent and warrant
to the Buyer as follows:

      2.1.  ORGANIZATION. The Seller is a corporation duly organized, validly
existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Kentucky, and has
all requisite power and authority (corporate and other) to own its properties,
to carry on its business as now being conducted, to execute and deliver this
Agreement and the agreements contemplated herein, and to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby. The Seller is duly qualified to do business
and in good standing in all jurisdictions in which its ownership of property or
the character of its business requires such qualification and failure to be so
qualified would have a Material Adverse Effect on the Audio Business. Certified
copies of the Articles of Incorporation and By-laws of the Seller, each as
amended to date, have been previously made available to the Buyer, are complete
and correct, and no amendments have been made thereto or have been authorized
since the date thereof. The Seller does not own any capital stock of or other
equity interest in any corporation, partnership or other entity.

      2.2.  OWNERSHIP OF THE SELLER. All of the Seller's outstanding capital
stock is owned by the Principal.

      2.3.  AUTHORIZATION. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the
Seller, and the agreements provided for herein, and the consummation by the
Seller of all transactions contemplated hereby, have been duly authorized by all
requisite corporate and shareholder action. This Agreement and all such other
agreements and obligations entered into and undertaken in connection with the



transactions contemplated hereby to which the Seller is a party constitute the
valid and legally binding obligations of the Seller, enforceable against the
Seller in accordance with their respective terms, except as enforceability
thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws
affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally or the availability of
equitable remedies. The execution, delivery and performance by the Seller of
this Agreement and the agreements provided for herein, and the consummation by
the Seller of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby in the manner
provided for in this Agreement, will not, with or without the giving of notice
or the passage of time or both, (a) violate in any material respect the
provisions of any law, rule or regulation applicable to the Seller; (b) violate
the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation or By-laws of the Seller; (c)
violate any judgment, decree, order or award of any court, governmental body or
arbitrator binding on the Seller; or (d) subject to obtaining the consents,
waivers and approvals described in Schedule 2.3, conflict with or result in the
breach or termination of any term or provision of, or constitute a default
under, or cause any acceleration under, or cause the creation of any lien,
charge or encumbrance upon the Assets pursuant to, any indenture, mortgage, deed
of trust or other instrument or agreement to which the Seller is a party or by
which the Seller or any of its properties are bound. Schedule 2.3 attached
hereto sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all consents, waivers and
approvals of third parties that are required in connection with the consummation
by the Seller of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
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      2.4.  OWNERSHIP OF THE ASSETS.

      (a)   Schedule 2.4 attached hereto sets forth a true, correct and complete
list of all claims, liabilities, liens, pledges, charges, encumbrances and
equities of any kind (collectively, the "ENCUMBRANCES") affecting the Assets
(other than the Leases) other than Permitted Encumbrances. The Seller, at the
Closing, will, subject to obtaining the consents and approvals described in
Schedule 2.3, have the right to (and will, upon delivery of the Bill of Sale,
Instrument of Assignment and instruments of transfer of ownership contemplated
hereby) sell and transfer to the Buyer good, clear, record and marketable title
to the Assets (other than the Leases) free and clear of all Encumbrances of any
kind, other than Permitted Encumbrances.

      (b)   Except as set forth on Schedule 2.4, the Seller has a valid
leasehold interest in each of the premises identified in the Leases, free and
clear of any Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances and Fee
Encumbrances. The Seller, at the Closing, subject to obtaining the consents,
waivers and approvals described in Schedule 2.3, the execution and delivery of
the Lease Assignments, and the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities, will
transfer to the Buyer a valid leasehold interest in each of the premises
identified in the Leases, subject to the respective terms of the Leases and
entitled to the benefits of the Lease relating to such premises enjoyed by the
Seller and contained in such Lease as of August 24, 2000 together with any
amendments, modifications or supplements made on or prior to such date, and
otherwise free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances
and Fee Encumbrances.

      "FEE ENCUMBRANCES" shall mean, with respect to the premises identified in
any Lease, Encumbrances on the title of the landlord to such premises.

      "PERMITTED ENCUMBRANCES" shall mean (i) any lien for current taxes not
delinquent or taxes being contested in good faith and by appropriate
proceedings, (ii) any lien arising in the ordinary course of business for sums
not now due or sums being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings
and liens securing appeal bonds, workmen's compensation bonds and similar bonds,
(iii) covenants, conditions and restrictions of record arising in the ordinary
course of conduct of the Audio Business, which covenants, conditions and
restrictions are not violated in any material respect by existing uses or
improvements and do not materially interfere with the use of the property and do
not affect the merchantability of the Seller's title or contain any provision
for reversion or forfeiture of the Seller's title, and (iv) as it relates to the
Leases, limitations on use of a subject premises to the extent that such
limitation does not materially adversely affect or limit the conduct of retail
sales as presently conducted in the Stores (or, in the case of the Stores Under
Construction, limitations on use of a subject premises provided for in the
underlying Lease).
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      2.5.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. The Seller has previously made available to
the Buyer its audited balance sheets as of June 30, 1999, 1998 and 1997 (the
"AUDITED BALANCE SHEETS") and the related statements of income, shareholders'
equity, retained earnings and statements of cash flow of the Seller for the
fiscal years then ended (collectively, including the Audited Balance Sheet, the
"AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS"). The Seller has also previously made available
to the Buyer its unaudited balance sheet as of June 30, 2000 (the "2000
UNAUDITED BALANCE SHEET") and the related statements of income, shareholders'



equity, retained earnings and statements of cash flow of the Seller for the
fiscal year then ended (collectively, including the 2000 Unaudited Balance
Sheet, the "2000 UNAUDITED FINANCIAL Statements"). To the Seller's and the
Principal's knowledge, the 2000 Unaudited Financial Statements and the Interim
Financial Statements to be made available pursuant to Section 5.4 (collectively,
together with the Audited Financial Statements and the 2000 Audited Financial
Statements, the "FINANCIAL STATEMENTS") have been (or will be) prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applied consistently
with past practice. The Audited Financial Statements and the 2000 Audited
Financial Statements have been (or will be) prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles applied consistently with past practice
and certified without qualification by the Seller's independent public
accountants. The Financial Statements fairly present, as of their respective
dates, the financial condition, retained earnings, assets and liabilities of the
Seller and the results of operations of the Seller's business for the periods
indicated.

      2.6.  ABSENCE OF UNDISCLOSED LIABILITIES. Except as and to the extent (a)
reflected and reserved against in the 2000 Unaudited Balance Sheet, (b) set
forth on Schedule 2.6 attached hereto or (c) incurred in the ordinary course of
business after the date of the 2000 Unaudited Balance Sheet and not material in
amount, either individually or in the aggregate, to the knowledge of the Seller
and the Principal, the Seller does not have any liability or obligation, secured
or unsecured, whether accrued, absolute, contingent, unasserted or otherwise,
affecting the Assets. For purposes of this Section 2.6, "MATERIAL" means any
amount in excess of $25,000.

      2.7.  LITIGATION. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.7 attached hereto, the
Seller is not a party to, or to the Seller's or the Principal's knowledge,
threatened with, and none of the Assets are subject to, any pending or, to the
Seller's or the Principal's knowledge, threatened litigation, suit, action,
investigation, proceeding or controversy before any court, administrative agency
or other governmental authority relating to or affecting the Assets or the
business or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Audio Business. The Seller
is not in violation of or in default with respect to any judgment, order, writ,
injunction, decree or rule of any court, administrative agency or governmental
authority or any regulation of any administrative agency or governmental
authority applicable or potentially applicable to the Audio Business.

      2.8.  STORES. Schedule 2.8 lists the name, location and approximate square
footage of each of the retail stores used in the conduct of the Seller's retail
audio business or under construction in contemplation of being used in the
conduct of the Seller's retail audio business (each a "Store" and collectively,
the "STORES"). Schedule 2.8 separately identifies each Store which is under
construction (each a "STORE UNDER CONSTRUCTION").

      2.9.  FIXED ASSETS. To the Seller's and the Principal's knowledge,
Schedule 2.9 attached hereto on the date of this Agreement sets forth a true,
correct and complete list of all Fixed Assets, identified in a manner consistent
with the Seller's past practices, as of the date of this Agreement (regardless
of whether such Fixed Assets are reflected in the Seller's books and records,
and including those Fixed Assets as to which the book value is zero), including
the book value thereof (determined in accordance with generally

                                      -9-

accepted accounting principles applied consistently with past practice) and a
complete list of all maintenance contracts (other than those listed in Schedule
2.15) with respect to such Fixed Assets to which the Seller is a party. To the
Seller's and the Principal's knowledge, Schedule 2.9, as updated pursuant to
Section 1.7(c), sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all Fixed Assets
as of the Closing Date (regardless of whether such Fixed Assets are reflected in
the Seller's books and records, and including those Fixed Assets as to which the
book value is zero), including the book value thereof (determined in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles applied consistently with past
practice) and a complete list of all maintenance contracts with respect to such
Fixed Assets to which the Seller is a party. Except as disclosed on Schedule
2.9, as updated by Section 1.7(c), to the Seller's and the Principal's
knowledge, no material Fixed Asset is unusable for its intended use in the
ordinary course of business of the Stores as presently conducted and, to the
extent provided in the maintenance contracts listed on Schedule 2.9, as updated
pursuant to Section 1.7(c), to the Seller's and the Principal's knowledge,
normal maintenance has been consistently performed with respect to such Fixed
Assets. Except as set forth in the preceding sentence, neither the Seller nor
the Principal makes any representation or warranty as to the condition or
fitness for a particular purpose of any of the Fixed Assets.

      2.10. LEASES. Schedule 2.10 attached hereto sets forth a true, correct and
complete list as of the date hereof of all leases of real property pursuant to
which any Store occupies its premises (the "LEASES"). True, correct and complete
copies of the Leases, and all amendments, modifications and supplemental
agreements thereto, have been made available by the Seller to the Buyer. The
Leases are binding and enforceable against the Seller and, to the Seller's and
the Principal's knowledge, each of the other parties thereto in accordance with



their respective terms and, except as set forth on Schedule 2.10, have not been
modified or amended since August 24, 2000. The Seller has not received any
written notice from the landlord under any Lease that it is in breach or default
of such Lease, and to the Seller's and the Principal's knowledge, neither the
Seller nor any other party is in default (other than, in the case of the Seller,
a default which the Seller has the right to cure and, in any such case, that
will be cured prior to and as of the Closing Date) with respect to any material
covenant, agreement or condition contained in any Lease, and to the Seller's and
the Principal's knowledge, there has not occurred any event which would
constitute a breach of or default by the Seller in the performance of any
material covenant, agreement or condition contained in any Lease, nor, to the
Seller's or the Principal's knowledge, has there occurred any event which with
the passage of time or the giving of notice or both would constitute such a
breach or material default by the Seller. The Seller is not obligated to pay any
leasing or brokerage commission relating to any Lease and, except as set forth
on Schedule 2.10 attached hereto, will not have any enforceable obligation to
pay any leasing or brokerage commission upon the renewal of any Lease. Except as
set forth on Schedule 2.10 and except for the Stores Under Construction, no
material construction, alteration or other leasehold improvement work with
respect to any of the Leases remains to be paid for or to be performed by the
Seller. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.3 or rights to recapture in connection
with assignments, the continuation, validity and effectiveness of each Lease
will not be affected by the transfer thereof to the Buyer under this Agreement
nor will the transfer thereof give any person a right of termination or right to
make a material modification with respect to such Lease, and all such Leases are
assignable to the Buyer without a consent.

      2.11. CHANGE IN FINANCIAL CONDITION AND ASSETS. Except as set forth on
Schedule 2.11 attached hereto, since June 30, 2000, there has been no change
which materially and adversely affects the business, properties, assets,
condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects of the Audio Business (a
"Material Adverse Change"). Except as set forth on Schedule 2.11 and except for
occurrences, events and developments generally known in the retail music
industry as of the date hereof, neither the Seller nor the Principal has any
knowledge of any existing occurrence, event or development which, as far as can
be reasonably foreseen, will have a material adverse effect on the Audio
Business or its business, properties, assets, condition (financial or otherwise)
or prospects (a "MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT"). For the purposes of this Agreement
(a) changes in market or economic conditions generally affecting global,
national or regional economic conditions, (b) changes in the rate of inflation
in the United States, (c) changes in the valuation levels in the global or
national equity capital markets, (d) the creation or legalization of new
technologies competing with the Audio Business shall not be deemed to be or to
cause a Material Adverse Change or have had a Material Adverse Effect and (e) no
historical item listed in Schedule 2.11 shall be deemed to have been a Material
Adverse Change or have had a Material Adverse Effect.
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      2.12. TAX MATTERS.

      (a)   Except as set forth on Schedule 2.12:

            (i) Within the times and in the manner prescribed by law, the Seller
      has filed all Returns which are required to be filed;

            (ii) With respect to all amounts in respect of Taxes imposed upon
      the Seller for which it could be liable, whether to Taxing Authorities
      (as, for example, under law) or to other persons or entities (as, for
      example, under Tax allocation agreements), with respect to all taxable
      periods or portions of taxable periods ending on or before the Closing
      Date, all applicable tax laws and agreements have been fully complied
      with, and all such amounts required to be paid by the Seller to Taxing
      Authorities or others on or before the date hereof have been timely paid;

            (iii) All Returns filed by the Seller constitute complete and
      accurate representations of the respective Tax liabilities of, or
      attributable to, the Seller for such years;

            (iv) No examination of the Returns of the Seller is currently in
      progress nor, to the knowledge of the Seller and the Principal, threatened
      and no unresolved deficiencies have been asserted or assessed against the
      Seller as a result of any audit by any Taxing Authority and no such
      deficiency has been proposed or threatened; and

            (v) There are no liens for Taxes (other than for current Taxes not
      yet due and payable) upon the Assets of the Seller.

      (b)   None of the Assets of the Seller is property which:

            (i) the Buyer or the Seller is or will be required to treat as owned
      by another person pursuant to the provisions of Section 168(f)(8) of the
      Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended and in effect immediately prior
      to the enactment of the Tax Reform Act of 1986;



            (ii) is "tax-exempt use property" within the meaning of Section
      168(h) of the Code; or

            (iii) is "tax-exempt bond financed property" within the meaning of
      Section 168(g)(5) of the Code.

      (c)   For purposes of this Agreement: "RETURN" means any return,
declaration, report, statement or other document required to be filed in respect
of any Tax. "TAX" or "TAXES" means (i) any federal, state, local, foreign and
other governmental net income, gross income, gross receipts, estimated sales,
use, ad valorem, transfer, franchise, profits, license, lease, service, service
use, withholding, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation,
premium, property, windfall profits, customs duty or other tax, fee, assessment
or charge of any kind whatever, together with interest and any penalty, addition
to tax or additional amount with respect thereto, and (ii) any Taxes (defined in
(i) above) for which a person is liable (A) as a transferee or successor, (B) as
an indemnitor, guarantor, surety or in a similar capacity under any contract,
arrangement, understanding or commitment, whether oral or written, or (C) under
Treas. Reg. ss. 1.1502-6 or any comparable provision of state or local tax law.
"TAXING AUTHORITY" means any governmental authority responsible for the
imposition of Taxes.

                                      -11-

      2.13. ASSETS COMPLETE. Except as disclosed on Schedule 2.13, the Assets
(together with the license granted by the Seller to the Buyer, as described in
Section 1.1(a) above) constitute all of the material rights, interests, assets
or property (tangible or intangible) owned or licensed by the Seller (or in
which the Seller otherwise has rights or any interest) which are currently used
in the Stores as currently operated by the Seller, but excluding assets used to
provide general corporate level support, corporate level management and
corporate level supervision to the Stores (collectively, "CORPORATE SERVICES").

      2.14. BOOKS AND RECORDS. The general ledgers and books of account of the
Seller, all federal, state and local income, franchise, property and other tax
returns filed by the Seller, with respect to the Assets or the Audio Business,
and all other books and records of the Seller are in all material respects
complete and correct and have been maintained in accordance with good business
practice and in accordance with all applicable procedures required by laws and
regulations.

      2.15. CONTRACTS AND COMMITMENTS.

      (a)   Schedule 2.15 attached hereto contains a true, complete and correct
list (if written) and description (if oral) of all material contracts,
agreements, leases, licenses and other instruments, whether written or oral, to
which the Seller is a party, necessary or useful to the conduct of the Audio
Business, as conducted by the Seller, but excluding insurance policies, employee
benefit plans, and any loan agreements, indentures, mortgages and guaranties
relating to the Audio Business that will cease to exist after the Closing Date
and general support, management and supervision provided by the Seller's
headquarters office (collectively, the "CONTRACTS"), including, without
limitation, the following types of Contracts:

            (i) all loan agreements, indentures, mortgages and guaranties that
      relate to the Audio Business or by which any of the Assets are bound;

            (ii) all pledges, conditional sale or title retention agreements,
      security agreements, equipment obligations, personal property leases and
      lease purchase agreements relating to the Audio Business or by which any
      of the Assets are bound;

            (iii) all contracts, agreements, commitments, purchase orders or
      other understandings or arrangements relating to the Audio Business or by
      which any of the Assets are bound which (A) involve payments or receipts
      by the Seller of more than $25,000 in the case of any single contract,
      agreement, commitment, understanding or arrangement under which full
      performance (including payment) has not been rendered by all parties
      thereto or (B) which, if terminated or discontinued, could reasonably be
      expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

            (iv) all collective bargaining agreements, employment and consulting
      agreements relating to the Audio Business or by which any of the Assets
      are bound;

            (v) all agency, distributor, sales representative and similar
      agreements relating to the Audio Business;

            (vi) all leases (including the Leases), whether operating, capital
      or otherwise, relating to the Audio Business; and

            (vii) any other material agreement or contract entered into by the
      Seller relating to the Audio Business.
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For the purposes of this Section 2.15 and Schedule 2.15, (A) Schedule 2.15 shall
be deemed to include each of the Leases identified in Schedule 2.10, and (B) any
contracts, agreements, commitments, purchase orders or other understandings or
arrangements relating to the Audio Business but which are not required to be
listed on Schedule 2.15 because of the disclosure threshold set forth in Section
2.15(a)(iii) above shall nevertheless be deemed to be Contracts, PROVIDED that
the aggregate of all payments and receipts by the Seller under all such
contracts, agreements, commitments, purchase orders or other understandings or
arrangements does not exceed $75,000.

      (b)   Except as set forth on Schedule 2.15 attached hereto, as to each
Contract other than the Leases (which shall be governed by the representations
and warranties contained in Section 2.10):

            (i) each Contract which is to be assumed by the Buyer as an Assumed
      Liability (an "ASSUMED CONTRACT") is a valid and binding agreement of the
      Seller, enforceable against the Seller in accordance with its terms, and
      neither the Seller nor the Principal has any knowledge that any Assumed
      Contract is not a valid and binding agreement of the other parties
      thereto;

            (ii) the Seller has fulfilled all material obligations required
      pursuant to the Assumed Contracts to have been performed by the Seller on
      its part prior to the date hereof;

            (iii) the Seller is not in breach of or default under any Assumed
      Contract in any material respect, and there has occurred no violation by
      the Seller of any provision of any Assumed Contract which with the passage
      of time (such as a grace period) or giving of notice or both would
      constitute such a default by the Seller, result in a loss of rights or
      result in the creation of any lien, charge or encumbrance on the Seller's
      assets, thereunder or pursuant thereto;

            (iv) to the knowledge of the Seller and the Principal, there is no
      existing breach or default by any other party to any Assumed Contract, and
      there has occurred no violation of any provision of any Assumed Contract
      which with the passage of time (such as a grace period) or giving of
      notice or both would constitute such a default by such other party, result
      in a loss of rights by the Seller or result in the creation of any lien,
      charge or encumbrance on the Seller's assets thereunder or pursuant
      thereto; and

            (v) the Seller is not restricted by any Assumed Contract from
      carrying on the Audio Business or activities reasonably related thereto
      anywhere in the world.

      (c)   Except as set forth on Schedule 2.3, the continuation, validity and
effectiveness of each Assumed Contract will not be affected by the transfer
thereof to the Buyer under this Agreement nor will the transfer thereof give any
person a right of termination or right to make a material modification with
respect to such Assumed Contract and all such Assumed Contracts are assignable
to the Buyer without a consent.

      (d)   True, correct and complete copies of all written Contracts and
descriptions of all oral Contracts have previously been made available by the
Seller to the Buyer.

      2.16. COMPLIANCE WITH AGREEMENTS AND LAWS. Schedule 2.16 is a correct and
complete list of all requisite licenses, permits and certificates, including
environmental, health and safety permits, from federal, state and local
authorities issued to the Seller which are necessary to conduct, own and operate
the Audio Business (collectively, the "PERMITS"). Except as set forth on
Schedule 2.16, to the Seller's and the Principal's knowledge, the operation of
the Audio Business is not in violation in any material respect of any law,
regulation or ordinance (including, without limitation, laws, regulations or
ordinances relating to building, zoning, land use or similar matters) relating
to the use, occupancy and operation of Stores by the Seller, the violation of
which could have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as
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set forth on Schedule 2.16, to the Seller's and the Principal's knowledge, the
Audio Business does not violate, in any material respect, any federal, state,
local or foreign laws, regulations or orders (including, but not limited to, any
of the foregoing relating to employment discrimination, occupational safety or
corrupt practices) the enforcement of which would have a Material Adverse
Effect. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.16 attached hereto, the Seller has not
since June 30, 1998 received any notice or communication from any federal, state
or local governmental or regulatory authority or otherwise of any such violation
or noncompliance.



      2.17. EMPLOYEE RELATIONS.

      (a)   The Seller is in compliance in all material respects with all
federal, state and municipal laws respecting employment and employment
practices, terms and conditions of employment, and wages and hours, and is not
engaged in any unfair labor practice, and there are no arrears in the payment of
wages or social security taxes.

      (b)   Except as set forth on Schedule 2.17 attached hereto:

            (i) none of the employees of the Audio Business is represented by
      any labor union;

            (ii) there is no unfair labor practice complaint against the Seller
      arising out of the Audio Business pending before the National Labor
      Relations Board or any state or local agency;

            (iii) to the Seller's and the Principal's knowledge, there is no
      pending labor strike or other labor trouble affecting the Audio Business
      (including, without limitation, any organizational drive);

            (iv) there is no labor grievance pending against the Seller arising
      out of the Audio Business;

            (v) there is no pending representation question respecting the
      employees of the Seller arising out of the Audio Business; and

            (vi) there are no pending arbitration proceedings arising out of or
      under any collective bargaining agreement to which the Seller is a party
      arising out of the Audio Business, or to the knowledge of the Seller and
      the Principal, any basis for which a claim may be made under any
      collective bargaining agreement relating to the Audio Business to which
      the Seller is a party.

      (c)   Schedule 2.17 attached hereto sets forth a true, correct and
complete list (a) as of the date hereof, of the employee benefits provided by
the Seller to its Audio Business employees, and all contracts or agreements
between the Seller and such employees, and (b) as of June 30, 2000, of the
Seller's current payroll for the Audio Business, specifying for each employee
whether such employee is compensated on a salary or hourly basis, and including
the job descriptions and salary or hourly wage rates of each of such employees,
showing separately for each such person who received an annual salary the
amounts paid or payable as salary and bonus payments for the year ending June
30, 2000.

      (d)   For purposes of this Section 2.17, the term "employee" shall be
construed to include sales agents and other independent contractors who spend a
majority of their working time on the Audio Business, but shall exclude the
Principal.

      2.18. ABSENCE OF CERTAIN CHANGES OR EVENTS. Except as set forth on
Schedule 2.18 attached hereto, since June 30, 2000, the Seller has not entered
into any transaction relating to or affecting the Audio Business which is not in
the usual and ordinary course of business, and, without limiting the generality
of the foregoing, the Seller has not, except in the usual and ordinary course of
its business or as set forth on Schedule 2.18:
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            (a) Incurred any material obligation or liability for borrowed money
      relating to the Audio Business;

            (b) Mortgaged, pledged or voluntarily subjected to lien, charge or
      other encumbrance any of the Assets;

            (c) Sold or purchased, assigned or transferred any of its tangible
      assets used in the Audio Business or canceled any debts or claims of the
      Audio Business;

            (d) Made any material amendment to or termination of any Contract or
      done any act or omitted to do any act which would cause the breach of any
      Contract;

            (e) Suffered any losses arising out of the Audio Business, whether
      insured or uninsured, and whether or not in the control of the Seller, in
      excess of $50,000 in the aggregate, or waived any rights of any value;

            (f) Made any changes in compensation of its officers or employees of
      the Audio Business;

            (g) Received notice of any litigation, warranty claim or products
      liability claims relating to the Audio Business; or



            (h) Made any material change in the terms, status or funding
      condition of any Employee Benefit Plan, as defined in Section 2.22 hereof.

      2.19. SUPPLIERS. Schedule 2.19 attached hereto sets forth a true, correct
and complete list of the names and addresses of the twenty suppliers of the
Audio Business which accounted for the largest dollar volume of Audio Business
purchases for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2000. None of such suppliers has
notified the Seller that it intends to discontinue its relationship with the
Seller.

      2.20. PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS. Schedule 2.20 attached hereto sets forth
all prepayments or deposits from customers of the Audio Business in excess of
$100 for any such deposit for products to be shipped, or services to be
performed, after the Closing Date which have been received by the Seller as of
the date hereof.

      2.21. TRADE NAMES AND OTHER INTANGIBLE PROPERTY.

      (a)   Schedule 2.21 attached hereto sets forth a true, correct and
complete list and, where appropriate, a description of, all Intangible Property.
True, correct and complete copies of all licenses and other agreements relating
to the Intangible Property have been previously made available by the Seller to
the Buyer.

      (b)   Except as otherwise disclosed in Schedule 2.21 attached hereto, the
Seller has, to the Seller's and the Principal's knowledge, the sole and
exclusive right to use all Intangible Property used in connection with the
operation of the Stores excluding Corporate Services. The Intangible Property
rights of the Seller are sufficient to conduct the Seller's business as
currently conducted, excluding Corporate Services, and, when transferred to the
Buyer pursuant to this Agreement, will be sufficient to permit the Buyer to
conduct the business of the Stores as currently conducted by the Seller
excluding Corporate Services. The Seller has received no notice of, and neither
the Seller nor the Principal has any knowledge of any basis for, a claim against
it that any of its operations, activities, products or publications infringes on
any patent, trademark, trade name, copyright or other intellectual property
right of a third party, or that it is illegally or otherwise using the trade
secrets, formulae or any intellectual property rights of others. The Seller has
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no disputes with or claims against any third party for infringement by such
third party of any trade name or other Intangible Property of the Seller.

      2.22. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS.

      (a)   Set forth in Schedule 2.22 is an accurate and complete list of all
domestic and foreign (i) "employee benefit plans," within the meaning of Section
3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended
("ERISA"); (ii) bonus, stock option, stock purchase, restricted stock,
equity-based, incentive, profit-sharing, savings, pension or retirement,
deferred compensation, medical, life, disability, accident, salary continuation,
severance, accrued leave, vacation, sick pay, sick leave, welfare, fringe,
multiemployer, multiple employer, supplemental or excess retirement and
unemployment benefit plans, programs, arrangements, commitments, policies and/or
practices (whether or not insured); and (iii) employment, consulting,
termination, and severance contracts or agreements; in each case for active,
inactive, retired or former employees, officers, directors, and independent
contractors of the Audio Business, whether or not any such plans, programs,
arrangements, commitments, policies, contracts, agreements and/or practices
(referred to in (i), (ii) or (iii) above) are in writing or are otherwise exempt
from the provisions of ERISA, that have been established, maintained or
contributed to (or with respect to which an obligation to contribute has been
undertaken) or with respect to which any potential liability is borne by the
Seller (including, for this purpose and for the purpose of all of the
representations in this Section 2.22, any predecessors to the Seller and all
employers (whether or not incorporated) that are by reason of common control
treated together with the Seller as a single employer within the meaning of
Section 414 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "CODE")) since
September 2, 1974 (collectively, the "EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS").

      (b)   The Seller has not incurred, and, to the knowledge of the Seller and
the Principal, no event has occurred and no condition or circumstance exists
that could result directly or indirectly in, any unsatisfied liability under
Title IV of ERISA arising in connection with the termination of, or complete or
partial withdrawal from, any employee pension benefit plan covered or previously
covered by Title IV of ERISA, and the Seller has paid and discharged when due or
accrued in the Financial Statements all obligations and liabilities arising
under ERISA and the Code with respect to all Employee Benefit Plans. The Seller
has complied in all respects with the continuation coverage requirements of Part
6 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA and Section 4980B(f) of the Code and the
Seller is not subject to any material liability, including, without limitation,
additional contributions, fines, taxes, penalties or loss of tax deduction as a
result of such administration and operation. Full payment has been made of all



amounts which the Seller is required, and full compliance has been achieved,
under applicable law or under any Employee Benefit Plan or any agreement
relating to any Employee Benefit Plan to which the Seller is a party, to have
paid as contributions or premiums thereunder as of the last day of the most
recent fiscal year of such Employee Benefit Plan ended prior to the date hereof.
Each Employee Benefit Plan intended to be "qualified" under Section 401(a) of
the Code, and each related trust intended to be exempt from federal income
taxation under Section 501(a) of the Code, is so qualified (and/or exempt), and
has received a favorable determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service
with respect to its qualified or exempt status, and since the date of each such
determination, no event has occurred and no condition or circumstance has
existed that resulted or is likely to result in the revocation of any such
determination or that could adversely affect the qualified status of any such
Employee Benefit Plan or the exempt status of any such trust. There are no
actions, suits, audits, investigations or claims pending or asserted or, to the
knowledge of the Seller and the Principal, threatened, anticipated or expected
to be asserted with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan or the assets of any
such plan (other than routine claims for benefits and appeals of denied claims
arising in the ordinary course).

      (c)   The Seller is not party to any agreement that would require it to
make any payment that would constitute an "excess parachute payment" for
purposes of Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code.
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      2.23. INDEBTEDNESS TO AND FROM OFFICERS, DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS.
Except as set forth on Schedule 2.23 attached hereto, the Seller is not
indebted, directly or indirectly, to any person who is an officer, director or
shareholder of the Seller or any affiliate of any such person in any amount
whatsoever other than for salaries for services rendered or reimbursable
business expenses, and no such officer, director, shareholder or affiliate is
indebted to the Seller, except for advances made to employees of the Seller in
the ordinary course of business to meet reimbursable business expenses
anticipated to be incurred by such obligor.

      2.24. POWERS OF ATTORNEY AND SURETYSHIPS. Except as set forth on Schedule
2.24 attached hereto, the Seller has no general or special powers of attorney
outstanding (whether as grantor or grantee thereof) and has no obligation or
liability (whether actual, accrued, accruing, contingent or otherwise) as
guarantor, surety, co-signor, endorser, co-maker, indemnitor or otherwise in
respect of the obligation of any person, corporation, partnership, joint
venture, association, organization or other entity, except as endorser or maker
of checks or letters of credit, respectively, endorsed or made in the ordinary
course of business.

      2.25. DISCLOSURE. No representation or warranty by the Seller in this
Agreement or in any Exhibit hereto, or in any list, statement, document or
information set forth in or attached to any Schedule delivered or to be
delivered pursuant to this Agreement, contains or will contain any untrue
statement of a material fact or omits or will omit any material fact necessary
in order to make the statements contained therein not misleading in light of the
circumstances under which they were made.

      2.26. INVENTORY. All Inventory is in the physical possession of the Seller
and is located either in the Stores or in a warehouse owned and operated by the
Seller or in transit as among the Stores and the Seller's warehouse. Except for
products which are returned or determined to be defective in the ordinary course
of business, the Inventory consists of items which are in good and merchantable
condition and are of a quality presently usable and salable in the ordinary
course of business.

      2.27. ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS.  Except as set forth in Schedule 2.27 and
except as would not, in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect:

      (a)   Hazardous Materials have not been generated, used, treated, stored,
released or disposed of by the Seller or, to the actual knowledge of the Seller
and the Principal (without specific investigation) by any other Person, on, at,
under or from any real property covered by the Leases ("STORE PROPERTY").

      (b)   The Seller is in compliance with Environmental Laws and the
requirements of any permits issued to the Seller under such Environmental Laws
with respect to operations conducted at the Store Properties by the Seller.

      (c)   There are no pending or, to the knowledge of the Seller and the
Principal, threatened, Environmental Claims against the Seller.

      (d)   To the Seller's and the Principal's actual knowledge (without
specific investigation), there are no facts, circumstances, conditions or
occurrences involving the Seller's operations at any Store Property that could
reasonably be expected (i) to form the basis of an Environmental Claim against
the Seller or the Assets or (ii) to cause such Store Property or Assets to be
subject to any restrictions on its ownership (as to the Assets), occupancy or



use under any Environmental Law.

      (e)   The Seller is not using and has not used any underground storage
tanks at any Store Property, and to the actual knowledge of the Seller and the
Principal (without specific investigation) there is no friable asbestos located
on or at any Store Property or Assets.
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      (f)   To the knowledge of the Seller and the Principal, no lien has been
recorded or threatened, under any Environmental Law with respect to the Assets.

      (g)   The Seller is not a party to any judgment, decree or agreement which
obligates it to perform any investigation or other action under any
Environmental Law with respect to any Store Property.

      (h)   The execution and delivery of this Agreement and consummation of
transactions contemplated hereby does not require any notice, disclosure or
other action by the Seller under any Environmental Law, except for any notice
disclosure or other action that will be made or taken by the Seller prior to the
Closing Date.

      For the purposes of this Agreement:

      "ENVIRONMENTAL CLAIMS" shall mean administrative, regulatory or judicial
actions, suits, demand letters, written claims, written notices of noncompliance
or violation or potential responsibility or requests for information, or
proceedings relating to any Environmental Law (for purposes of this definition
only, referred to as "CLAIMS"), including (a) Claims by governmental or
regulatory authorities for enforcement, cleanup, removal, response, remedial or
other actions or damages pursuant to any applicable Environmental Law, and (b)
Claims by any third party seeking damages, contribution, indemnification, cost
recovery, compensation or injunctive relief resulting from Hazardous Materials
or arising from alleged injury or threat of injury to health, safety or the
environment, including, without limitation, natural resources.

      "ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS" shall mean any applicable federal, state or local
statute, law, rule, regulation, ordinance, code or rule of common law in
effect and in each case as amended as of the Closing Date, relating to the
environment including, without limitation, those relating to the generation,
use, storage, treatment and disposal of Hazardous Materials such as the
Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980,
as amended, 42 U.S.C.ss. 9601 et seq.; the Resource Conservation and Recovery
Act of 1976, as amended, 42 U.S.C.ss. 6901 et seq.; the Federal Water
Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C.ss. 1251 et seq.; the Toxic
Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C.ss. 2601 et seq.; the Clean Air Act, 42
U.S.C.ss. 7401 et seq.; the Safe Drinking Water Act, 42 U.S.C.ss. 300f et seq.;
the Oil Pollution Act of 1990, 33 U.S.C.ss. 2701 et seq.; and their state and
local counterparts and equivalents.

      "HAZARDOUS MATERIALS" shall mean any petroleum or petroleum products,
asbestos in any form that is or could be friable, and any wastes, pollutants,
contaminants, constituents, chemicals, materials or substances subject to
regulation under any Environmental Law.

      3.    REPRESENTATIONS OF THE BUYER

      The Buyer represents and warrants to the Seller and to the Principal as
follows:

      3.1.  ORGANIZATION AND AUTHORITY. The Buyer is a corporation duly
organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of
New York, and has all requisite power and authority (corporate and other) to own
its properties, to carry on its business as now being conducted, to execute and
deliver this Agreement and the agreements contemplated herein, and to consummate
the transactions contemplated hereby.

      3.2.  AUTHORIZATION. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the
Buyer, and the agreements provided for herein, and the consummation by the Buyer
of all transactions contemplated hereby, have been duly authorized by all
requisite corporate action. This Agreement and all such other agreements and
written obligations entered into and undertaken in connection with the
transactions contemplated hereby constitute the valid and legally binding
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obligations of the Buyer, enforceable against the Buyer in accordance with their
respective terms. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and
the agreements provided for herein, and the consummation by the Buyer of the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby in the manner provided for in this
Agreement, will not, with or without the giving of notice or the passage of time
or both, (a) violate the provisions of any law, rule or regulation applicable to
the Buyer; (b) violate the provisions of the Buyer's Articles of Incorporation



or By-laws; (c) violate any judgment, decree, order or award of any court,
governmental body or arbitrator binding on the Buyer; or (d) subject to
obtaining the consents and approvals described in Schedule 3.2, conflict with or
result in the breach or termination of any term or provision of, or constitute a
default under, or cause any acceleration under, or cause the creation of any
lien, charge or encumbrance upon the properties or assets of the Buyer pursuant
to, any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust or other agreement or instrument to
which it or its properties is a party or by which the Buyer is or may be bound.
Schedule 3.2 attached hereto sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all
consents and approvals of third parties that are required in connection with the
consummation by Buyer of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

      3.3.  REGULATORY APPROVALS. All consents, approvals, authorizations and
other requirements prescribed by any law, rule or regulation which must be
obtained or satisfied by the Buyer and which are necessary for the consummation
of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement have been, or will be prior
to the Closing Date, obtained and satisfied.

      3.4.  DISCLOSURE. No representation or warranty by the Buyer in this
Agreement or in any Exhibit hereto, or in any list, statement, document or
information set forth in or attached to any Schedule delivered or to be
delivered pursuant to this Agreement, contains or will contain any untrue
statement of a material fact or omits or will omit any material fact necessary
in order to make the statements contained therein not misleading in light of the
circumstances under which they were made.

      3.5.  LITIGATION. There are no judicial or administrative actions
proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of the Buyer, threatened, that question
the validity of this Agreement or any action taken or to be taken by the Buyer
in connection with this Agreement. There is no litigation, proceeding or
governmental investigation pending or, to the knowledge of the Buyer,
threatened, or any order, injunction or decree outstanding against the Buyer
that, if adversely determined, would have a material adverse effect upon the
Buyer's ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

      3.6.  FINANCING. The Buyer has sufficient funds necessary to pay the Cash
Consideration payable on the Closing Date (as reasonably contemplated by
Sections 1.3 and 1.7) and related fees and expenses associated with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement and, as of the Closing Date, the
Buyer expects that it will have the financial capacity to perform all of its
other obligations under this Agreement and the Exhibits hereto. The Buyer,
immediately after the Closing, will be solvent, will be able to meet its
obligations and debts as they come due and will have adequate capital for the
conduct of its business (including the operation of the Stores) and immediately
after the Closing the Buyer's assets will exceed its liabilities.

      4.    ACCESS TO INFORMATION; PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS

      4.1.  ACCESS TO MANAGEMENT, PROPERTIES AND RECORDS. From the date of this
Agreement until the Closing Date, the Seller shall afford the officers,
attorneys, accountants and other authorized representatives of the Buyer
reasonable access upon reasonable notice and during normal business hours to all
management personnel, offices, properties, books and records of the Audio
Business, so that the Buyer may have full opportunity to make such investigation
as it shall desire to make of the management, business, properties and affairs
of the Audio Business, and the Buyer shall be permitted to make abstracts from,
or copies of, all such books and records. The Seller shall furnish to the

                                      -19-

Buyer such financial and operating data and other information as to the Assets
and the Audio Business as the Buyer shall reasonably request.

      4.2.  CONFIDENTIALITY. All information not previously disclosed to the
public or generally known to persons engaged in the business of the Seller which
shall have been furnished by the Seller to the Buyer in connection with the
transactions contemplated hereby or as provided pursuant to this Section 4 shall
be considered Evaluation Material and treated in accordance with the
Confidentiality Agreement (the "CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT") dated as of August
30, 2000 between the Buyer and the Seller. Notwithstanding the above, the Buyer
(i) may include in any Registration Statement, prospectus, prospectus
supplement, or periodic report filed by it with the Securities and Exchange
Commission or any state securities commission or with the Nasdaq National
Market, and (ii) may disclose in order to comply with applicable law or upon
advice of the Buyer's counsel, any required information regarding the Seller,
the business of the Seller, the financial condition of the Seller and the terms
of this Agreement; PROVIDED that prior to any such disclosure, the Buyer shall
provide the Seller with three (3) day's notice if reasonably practicable, but in
no event less than one (1) day's notice, of such proposed disclosure and shall
endeavor to mutually agree as to the contents of such disclosure; PROVIDED
FURTHER that the Buyer shall have the absolute right to disclose any and all
such information that the Buyer, on the advice of its counsel, believes is
required pursuant to applicable law.



      4.3.  PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS. The parties agree that prior to the Closing
Date, except as otherwise required by law, any and all public announcements or
other public communications concerning this Agreement and the purchase of the
Assets by the Buyer shall be subject to the prior written approval of the Buyer
and the Seller. The Buyer and the Seller shall provide each other with three (3)
day's notice if reasonably practicable, but in no event less than one (1) day's
notice, of any proposed public announcement or other proposed public
communication and shall endeavor to mutually agree as to the contents of such
announcement or communication; PROVIDED that the Buyer shall have the absolute
right to make any public announcement or other public communication that the
Buyer, on the advice of its counsel, believes is required pursuant to applicable
law.

      5.    COVENANTS OF THE SELLER

      5.1.  CONDUCT OF BUSINESS. From the date hereof and until the Closing
Date, the Seller shall conduct the Audio Business substantially in the same
manner as heretofore and shall not make or institute any unusual or new methods
of purchase, sale, shipment or delivery, lease, management, accounting or
operation, except as agreed to in writing by the Buyer. All of the property of
the Seller comprising the Assets shall be used, operated, repaired and
maintained in a normal business manner consistent with past practice.

      5.2.  ABSENCE OF MATERIAL CHANGES. Except as set forth on Schedule 5.2
attached hereto, from the date hereof and until the Closing Date or the earlier
termination of the Agreement, without the prior written consent of the Buyer,
the Seller shall not:

            (a) Incur any obligation or liability (absolute or contingent) that
      will become the obligation or liability of the Buyer after the Closing,
      except current liabilities incurred and obligations under contracts
      entered into in the ordinary course of business;

            (b) Mortgage, pledge, or subject to any lien, charge or any other
      encumbrance any of the Assets;

            (c) Sell, assign, or transfer any of the Assets, except for
      inventory sold in the ordinary course of business;
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            (d) Cancel any debts or claims, except in the ordinary course of
      business;

            (e) Merge or consolidate with or into any corporation or other
      entity;

            (f) Make, accrue or become liable for any bonus, profit sharing or
      incentive payment payable to or for the benefit of any employees employed
      at or rendering services to the Stores, except for accruals under existing
      plans, if any, or increase the rate of compensation payable or to become
      payable by it to any of its employees, other than increases in the
      ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

            (g) Modify, amend, alter or terminate any of its executory contracts
      of a material value or which are material in amount, and which are listed
      on Schedule 2.15;

            (h) Take or permit any act or omission constituting a breach or
      default under any Contract listed on Schedule 2.15;

            (i) Fail to (i) preserve the possession and control of its assets
      and business, (ii) use reasonable efforts (not requiring expenditure of
      money) to keep in service its present officers and key employees who
      render services at or with respect to the Stores, (iii) use reasonable
      efforts to preserve the goodwill of its customers, suppliers, agents,
      brokers and others having business relations with it, and (iv) use
      reasonable efforts to keep and preserve its business existing on the date
      hereof until the Closing Date;

            (j) Fail to operate its business and maintain its books, accounts
      and records in the customary manner and in the ordinary or regular course
      of business and maintain in a manner consistent with past practices its
      business premises, fixtures, furniture and equipment;

            (k) Enter into any leases, contracts, agreements or understandings
      relating to the Assets or the Stores other than those entered into in the
      ordinary course of business calling for payments which in the aggregate do
      not exceed $10,000 for each such lease, contract, agreement or
      understanding;

            (l) Engage any employee to be employed at or render services with
      respect to the Stores, for a salary in excess of $30,000 per annum;



            (m) Change the retail price of any inventory other than in the
      ordinary course of business in a manner consistent with past practices;

            (n) Materially alter the terms, status or funding condition of any
      Employee Benefit Plan; or

            (o) Commit or agree to do any of the foregoing in the future.

      5.3.  TAXES. The Seller will, on a timely basis, file all of its tax
returns for and pay any and all of its taxes which shall become due or shall
have accrued on or prior to the Closing Date.

      5.4.  DELIVERY OF INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 2000 AUDITED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS. From the date hereof and until the Closing Date, as promptly as
reasonably possible following the last day of each month after the date hereof,
the Seller shall deliver to the Buyer its balance sheet and related statements
of income, shareholders' equity, retained earnings and statement of cash flows
for the one-month period then ended (collectively, the "INTERIM FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS"), and, as soon as practicable after such statements become
available, but in any event prior to the Closing Date, the Seller shall deliver
to the Buyer its audited balance sheet as of June 30, 2000 and the related
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statements of income, shareholders' equity, retained earnings and statements of
cash flows of the Seller for the fiscal year then ended (the "2000 AUDITED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS"), all certified by the Seller's independent public
accountants.

      5.5.  COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. Except to the extent reflected on Schedule
2.16, the Seller will comply with all laws and regulations which are applicable
to its ownership of the Assets or to the conduct of the Audio Business, and will
perform and comply with all contracts, commitments and obligations by which it
is bound to the extent relating to the Stores.

      5.6.  SATISFACTION OF CONDITIONS. The Seller covenants and agrees to use
its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the satisfaction of the conditions
specified in this Agreement. The Seller also agrees to cooperate in good faith
with the Buyer in connection with the satisfaction of the conditions specified
in this Agreement, including, but not limited to, sharing reasonably requested
information and providing reasonable access to its officers and employees.

      5.7.  CONTINUED TRUTH OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLER. The
Seller will not take any actions which would result in any of the
representations or warranties set forth in Section 2 hereof becoming untrue in
any material respect.

      5.8.  CONTINUING OBLIGATION TO INFORM. From the date hereof and until the
Closing Date, the Seller will promptly deliver or cause to be delivered to the
Buyer supplemental information concerning events subsequent to the date hereof
which would render any statement, representation or warranty in this Agreement
or any information contained in any Schedule inaccurate or incomplete in any
material respect.

      5.9.  EXCLUSIVE DEALING. The Seller will not, directly or indirectly,
through any officer, director, agent or otherwise, (a) solicit, initiate or
encourage submission of proposals or offers from any person relating to any
acquisition or purchase of all or a material portion of the Assets and business
of the Stores, or any equity interest in, the Seller or any equity investment,
merger, consolidation or business combination with the Seller, or (b)
participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding, or furnish to any
other person, any non-public information with respect to, or otherwise cooperate
in any way with, or assist or participate in, facilitate or encourage, any
effort or attempt by any other person to do or seek any of the foregoing.

      5.10. ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATES. The Seller will use commercially reasonable
efforts (not requiring the payment of money) to obtain estoppel certificates
from each lessor from whom the Seller leases real property consenting (if
necessary) to the assumption of such lease by the Buyer and stating that, to
such lessor's knowledge, there are no outstanding claims against the Seller
under any such lease.

      6.    COVENANTS OF THE BUYER

      6.1.  SATISFACTION OF CONDITIONS. The Buyer covenants and agrees to use
its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the satisfaction of the conditions
specified in this Agreement. The Buyer also agrees to cooperate in good faith
with the Seller in connection with the satisfaction of the conditions specified
in this Agreement, including, but not limited to, sharing reasonably requested
information and providing reasonable access to its officers and employees.

      6.2.  CONTINUED TRUTH OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE BUYER. The
Buyer will not take any actions which would result in any of the representations
or warranties set forth in Section 3 hereof becoming untrue in any material



respect.
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      6.3.  EMPLOYEES.

      (a)   On the Closing Date, the Seller shall terminate the employment of,
and the Buyer shall offer immediate employment to, each individual listed on the
Seller's Audio Business payroll (including Store and field employees) set forth
in Schedule 2.17 and each employee of the Audio Business hired in the ordinary
course of business between the date hereof and the Closing Date who as of the
Closing Date is an active employee of the Audio Business, which shall not
include any employee set forth on Schedule 6.3. All of the employees to which
the Buyer is obligated to offer employment and which accept such employment are
referred to herein as "EMPLOYEES." The foregoing to the contrary
notwithstanding, nothing contained herein shall be construed or interpreted as a
contract of employment with any Employee or to give any Employee the right to be
retained as an employee of the Buyer after the Closing Date, or to restrict or
otherwise inhibit the Buyer's rights to terminate, or change the conditions of,
the employment of any Employee.

      (b)   As of the Closing Date, each of the Employees shall cease to be
covered by the Seller's Employee Benefit Plans. On and after their respective
dates of hire by the Buyer, each Employee shall be covered by the employee
benefit plans of the Buyer that are applicable to similarly situated employees
of the Seller. For purposes of the Buyer's employee benefit plans, the Buyer
shall credit each Employee with full credit for service with the Seller prior to
the Closing Date to the extent such service was recognized for such purposes
under similar employee benefit plans of the Seller. Nothing contained in this
Section 6.3 shall obligate or commit the Buyer to continue any of its benefit
plans after the Closing Date or to maintain in effect any such plan or any level
or type of benefits.

      (c)   The Seller shall cause (whether by plan amendment or otherwise),
effective no later than the later of the Closing Date or their respective dates
of hire by the Buyer, all of the Employees hired by the Buyer who are
participants in any of the Seller's tax-qualified pension, profit-sharing,
savings, or retirement plans to be fully vested in their benefits and accounts
thereunder, irrespective of whether or not such employees have satisfied the
vesting requirements otherwise applicable under any such plan. The Buyer shall
take all reasonable and necessary action (whether by plan amendment or
otherwise) to permit its defined contribution plan that is applicable to the
Employees to accept an "eligible rollover contribution" (within the meaning of
Section 401(a)(31) of the Code) in cash of all or a portion of the balance of
any Employee's account under the Seller's 401(k) plan.

      (d)   As promptly as practicable after the Closing Date, the Seller shall
furnish the Buyer with a schedule setting forth the name of each Employee and
any vacation time and/or sick leave time accrued in respect of each such
Employee. The Seller represents and warrants that the amounts of such vacation
and/or sick leave time will be calculated in accordance with the Seller's
standard policies with respect thereto as of the date hereof. The Buyer will
permit each Employee to retain any such accrued vacation time and/or sick leave
time in accordance with the past practices of the Seller.

      6.4.  SUPPLY CONTRACT. Concurrent with the Closing, the Buyer and the
Seller will enter into a video supply contract substantially in the form of
Exhibit B hereto.

      6.5.  CONSULTING AGREEMENT. Concurrent with the Closing, the Buyer and
Terry Woodward will enter into a consulting agreement substantially in the form
of Exhibit C hereto.

      7.    CONDITIONS TO OBLIGATIONS OF THE BUYER

      The obligations of the Buyer under this Agreement are subject to the
fulfillment, at the Closing Date, of the following conditions precedent, each of
which may be waived in writing in the sole discretion of the Buyer:
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      7.1.  CONTINUED TRUTH OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLER;
COMPLIANCE WITH COVENANTS AND OBLIGATIONS. The representations and warranties of
the Seller (in the case of the representations and warranties contained in
Section 2.9, after giving effect to the update to Schedule 2.9 required pursuant
to Section 1.7(c)) shall be true in all material respects (other than
representations and warranties which are qualified as to materiality, which
shall be true in all respects) on and as of the Closing Date as though such
representations and warranties were made on and as of such date (except for
representations and warranties made as of a specific date, which shall be true
in all respects as of the date made), except for any changes permitted by the
terms hereof or consented to in writing by the Buyer. The Seller shall have
performed and complied in all material respects with all terms, conditions,



covenants, obligations, agreements and restrictions required by this Agreement
to be performed or complied with by it prior to or at the Closing Date.

      7.2.  CORPORATE PROCEEDINGS.  All corporate and other proceedings
required to be taken on the part of the Seller to authorize or carry out this
Agreement and to convey, assign, transfer and deliver the Assets shall have
been taken.

      7.3.  GOVERNMENTAL APPROVALS. All governmental agencies, departments,
bureaus, commissions and similar bodies, the consent, authorization or approval
of which is necessary under any applicable law, rule, order or regulation for
the consummation by the Seller of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the operation of the Seller's business by the Buyer shall have
consented to, authorized, permitted or approved such transactions. Any waiting
period (and any extension thereof) under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust
Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the "HSR Act"), applicable to the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have expired or been
terminated without any adverse action by the Federal Trade Commission or the
U.S. Department of Justice.

      7.4.  CONSENTS OF LENDERS, LESSORS AND OTHER THIRD PARTIES. The Seller
shall have received all requisite consents, waivers and approvals of all
lenders, lessors and other third parties whose consent, waiver or approval is
required in order for the Seller to consummate the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement, including, without limitation, those set forth on Schedule 2.3
attached hereto.

      7.5.  ADVERSE PROCEEDINGS. No action or proceeding by or before any court
or other governmental body shall have been instituted or threatened by any
governmental body or person whatsoever which shall seek to restrain, prohibit or
invalidate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or which might
materially adversely affect the right of the Buyer to own or use the Assets
after the Closing.

      7.6.  THE ASSETS. Except for the Assumed Liabilities, at the Closing (a)
the Buyer shall receive good, clear, record and marketable title to the Assets
other than the Leases, free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted
Encumbrances, and (b) the Buyer shall receive a valid leasehold interest in each
of the premises identified in the Leases subject to the respective terms of the
Leases and entitled to the benefits of the Lease relating to such premises
enjoyed by the Seller and contained in such Lease as of August 24, 2000,
together with any amendments, modifications or supplements made on or prior to
such date, and otherwise free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted
Encumbrances and Fee Encumbrances.

      7.7.  CASH AVAILABLE FOR WORKING CAPITAL PURPOSES. On the Closing Date,
the Seller will have available at each Store cash in the amounts set forth on
Schedule 1.1(a)(iii) hereof, which cash will be transferred to the Buyer
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

      7.8.  CLOSING DELIVERIES. The Buyer shall have received at or prior to the
Closing each of the following documents:
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            (a) the Instrument of Assumption, the Lease Assignments and a Bill
      of Sale in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Buyer;

            (b) such instruments of conveyance, assignment and transfer, in form
      and substance consistent with this Agreement and satisfactory to the
      Buyer, as shall be appropriate to convey, transfer and assign to, and to
      vest in, the Buyer, good, clear, record and marketable title to the Assets
      (subject to the Permitted Encumbrances);

            (c) Schedule 1.7(a) and the update to Schedule 2.9 required by
      Section 1.7 hereto; and

            (d) such certificates of the Seller's officers and such other
      documents as the Buyer shall reasonably request.

      7.9.  SECTION 1445 CERTIFICATE.  The Seller shall have furnished the
Buyer with a certificate that the Seller is not a foreign person within the
meaning of Section 1445 of the Code, which certificate shall set forth all
information required by, and otherwise be executed in accordance with, Treas.
Reg.ss. 1.1445-2(b).

      8.    CONDITIONS TO OBLIGATIONS OF THE SELLER

      The obligations of the Seller under this Agreement are subject to the
fulfillment, at the Closing Date, of the following conditions precedent, each of
which may be waived in writing at the sole discretion of the Seller:

      8.1.  CONTINUED TRUTH OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE BUYER;
COMPLIANCE WITH COVENANTS AND OBLIGATIONS. The representations and warranties of



the Buyer in this Agreement shall be true in all material respects (other than
representations and warranties which are qualified as to materiality, which
shall be true in all respects) on and as of the Closing Date as though such
representations and warranties were made on and as of such date, except for any
changes consented to in writing by the Seller. The Buyer shall have performed
and complied with all terms, conditions, obligations, agreements and
restrictions required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it
prior to or at the Closing Date.

      8.2.  CORPORATE PROCEEDINGS. All corporate and other proceedings required
to be taken on the part of the Buyer to authorize or carry out this Agreement
shall have been taken.

      8.3.  GOVERNMENTAL APPROVALS. All governmental agencies, departments,
bureaus, commissions and similar bodies, the consent, authorization or approval
of which is necessary under any applicable law, rule, order or regulation for
the consummation by the Buyer of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
shall have consented to, authorized, permitted or approved such transactions.
Any waiting period (and any extension thereof) under the HSR Act applicable to
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have expired or been
terminated without any adverse action by the Federal Trade Commission or the
U.S. Department of Justice.

      8.4.  CONSENTS OF THIRD PARTIES. The Buyer shall have received all
requisite consents and approvals of all third parties whose consent or approval
is required in order for the Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement, including, without limitation, those set forth on Schedule
3.2 attached hereto.

      8.5.  ADVERSE PROCEEDINGS. No action or proceeding by or before any court
or other governmental body shall have been instituted or threatened by any
governmental body or person whatsoever which shall seek to restrain, prohibit or
invalidate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or which might affect
the right of the Seller to transfer the Assets.

                                      -25-

      9.    INDEMNIFICATION

      9.1.  BY THE BUYER AND THE SELLER AND THE PRINCIPAL. The Buyer on the one
hand and the Seller and the Principal, jointly and severally, on the other hand,
each hereby indemnifies and holds harmless the other (and their respective
affiliates, successors and assigns and, if applicable, their respective
officers, directors, employees, agents and heirs) against all claims, damages,
losses, liabilities, costs and expenses (including, without limitation,
settlement costs and any legal, accounting or other expenses for investigating
or defending any actions or threatened actions) (collectively, "LOSSES")
reasonably incurred by the Indemnified Party in connection with each and all of
the following:

            (a) Any breach by the indemnifying party of any representation or
      warranty in this Agreement (without giving effect to any qualifications as
      to materiality contained therein);

            (b) Any breach of any covenant, agreement or obligation of the
      indemnifying party contained in this Agreement or any other agreement,
      instrument or document contemplated by this Agreement; and

            (c) Any misrepresentation contained in any certificate furnished by
      the indemnifying party pursuant to this Agreement or in connection with
      the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

      9.2A  BY THE SELLER AND THE PRINCIPAL. The Seller and the Principal, on a
joint and several basis, further agree to indemnify and hold harmless the Buyer
(and its affiliates, successors and assigns and its officers, directors,
employees and agents) from any and all Losses reasonably incurred by the
Indemnified Party, in connection with each and all of the following:

            (a) Any claims against, or liabilities, obligations or commitments
      of, the Seller or against the Assets not specifically assumed by the Buyer
      pursuant to this Agreement including, without limitation, all obligations,
      liabilities and commitments referred to in Section 1.4(c);

            (b) The failure of the Buyer to obtain the protections afforded by
      compliance with the notification and other requirements of the bulk sales
      laws (including, without limitation, bulk sales laws relating to Taxes),
      if any, in force in the jurisdictions in which such laws may be applicable
      to either the Seller or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

            (c) Any warranty claim or product liability claim relating to the
      Audio Business prior to the Closing Date other than customer returns and
      accommodations in the ordinary course of business;

            (d) Any Taxes of the Seller (other than Taxes subject to the Rent



      and Tax Adjustment); and

            (e) Any claims against, or liabilities or obligations of, the Seller
      with respect to obligations under any Employee Benefit Plan.

      9.2B  BY THE BUYER. The Buyer further agrees to indemnify and hold
harmless the Seller and the Principal (and their respective affiliates,
successors and assigns and, if applicable, their respective officers, directors,
employees, agents and heirs) from any and all Losses reasonably incurred by the
Indemnified Party, in connection with each and all of the following:

            (a) The Assumed Liabilities;
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            (b) Any claim or liability relating to or arising out of the
      occupation or operation of the Stores after the Closing Date; and

            (c) Any Taxes of the Buyer (other than Taxes subject to the Rent and
      Tax Adjustment).

      9.3.  PROCEDURES FOR INDEMNIFICATION.

      (a)   A party seeking indemnification pursuant to Section 9.1, 9.2A or
9.2B (an "INDEMNIFIED PARTY") shall give prompt notice to the party from whom
such indemnification is sought (the "INDEMNIFYING PARTY") of the assertion of
any claim or assessment, or the commencement of any action, suit, audit or
proceeding, by a third party in respect of which indemnity may be sought
hereunder (a "THIRD PARTY CLAIM"), and will give the Indemnifying Party such
information with respect thereto as the Indemnifying Party may reasonably
request, but no failure to give such notice shall relieve the Indemnifying Party
of any liability hereunder (except to the extent the Indemnifying Party has
suffered actual prejudice thereby). Thereafter, the Indemnified Party shall
deliver to the Indemnifying Party, within seven days after the Indemnified
Party's receipt thereof, copies of all notices and documents (including court
papers) received by the Indemnified Party relating to the Third Party Claim. The
Indemnifying Party shall have the right, exercisable by written notice to the
Indemnified Party within thirty days of receipt of notice from the Indemnified
Party of the commencement of or assertion of any Third Party Claim, to assume
the defense of such Third Party Claim, using counsel selected by the
Indemnifying Party and reasonably acceptable to the Indemnified Party. Should
the Indemnifying Party so elect to assume the defense of a Third Party Claim,
the Indemnifying Party will not be liable to the Indemnified Party for legal
expenses subsequently incurred by the Indemnified Party in connection with the
defense thereof, so long as the Indemnifying Party is actively defending such
Third Party Claim. Regardless of whether the Indemnifying Party elects to assume
the defense of any such Third Party Claim, so long as the Indemnifying Party
shall have paid all documented costs and expenses of the Indemnified Parties
that are indemnifiable hereunder (and that are not in dispute in good faith)
relating to the applicable Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party shall not
admit any liability with respect to, or settle, compromise or discharge, such
Third Party Claim without the Indemnifying Party's prior written consent, such
consent not to be unreasonably withheld.

      (b)   The Indemnifying Party or the Indemnified Party, as the case may be,
shall in any event have the right to participate, at its own expense, in the
defense of any Third Party Claim which the other is defending. The Indemnifying
Party shall bear the reasonable fees, costs and expenses of separate counsel of
the Indemnified Party if: (i) the use of counsel chosen by the Indemnifying
Party to represent the Indemnified Party would present such counsel with a
conflict of interest, such conflict of interest is not remedied by waiver and
the Indemnifying Party does not or cannot choose another counsel without a
conflict of interest, (ii) the Indemnifying Party shall not have employed
counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party to represent the
Indemnified Party within a reasonable time after notice of the institution of
such claim, or (iii) the Indemnifying party shall authorize the Indemnified
Party to employ separate counsel at the Indemnifying Party's expense.

      (c)   The Indemnifying Party, if it shall have assumed the defense of any
Third Party Claim in accordance with the terms hereof, shall have the right,
upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Indemnified Party, to consent
to the entry of judgment with respect to, or otherwise settle such Third Party
Claim provided the Indemnifying Party satisfies and discharges such judgment or
settlement unless (i) the Third Party Claim involves equitable or other
non-monetary damages or (ii) in the reasonable judgment of the Indemnified Party
such settlement would have a continuing material adverse effect on the
Indemnified Party's or any of its affiliates' businesses (including any material
impairment of its relationships with customers and suppliers), in which case
such settlement only may be made with the written consent of the Indemnified
Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.
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      (d)   Whether or not the Indemnifying Party chooses to defend or prosecute
any claim involving a third party, all the parties hereto shall cooperate in the
defense or prosecution thereof and shall furnish such records, information and
testimony, and attend such conferences, discovery proceedings, hearings, trials
and appeals as may be reasonably requested in connection therewith. Such
cooperation shall include access during normal business hours afforded to the
Indemnifying Party to, and reasonable retention by the Indemnified Party of,
records and information which are reasonably relevant to such Third Party Claim,
and making employees available on a mutually convenient basis to provide
additional information and explanation of any material provided hereunder, and
the Indemnifying Party shall reimburse the Indemnified Party for all its
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in connection therewith.

      9.4.  PAYMENT OF INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATION. All indemnification by the
Buyer, the Seller or the Principal hereunder shall be effected by payment of
cash or delivery of a cashier's or certified check in the amount of the
indemnification liability.

      9.5.  SURVIVAL; CLAIMS FOR INDEMNIFICATION. All representations,
warranties, covenants, agreements and obligations made by the parties herein or
in any instrument or document furnished in connection herewith shall survive the
Closing and any investigation at any time made by or on behalf of the parties
hereto. All representations and warranties of the parties shall expire on the
second anniversary of the Closing Date, except for claims, if any, asserted in
writing prior to such date, which shall survive until finally resolved and
satisfied in full and except for (i) claims relating to Taxes, which shall
survive until one year after any applicable statute of limitations and (ii)
claims in respect of breaches of the representations and warranties contained in
Sections 2.9 and 2.26, which shall survive until sixty (60) days after the
Closing Date. All claims and actions for indemnity pursuant to this Section 9
for breach of any representation or warranty shall be asserted or maintained in
writing by a party hereto on or prior to the expiration of the applicable
period. All covenants, agreements and obligations of the parties shall survive
as specified herein, or if not so specified, shall survive indefinitely.

      9.6.  DAMAGES AND RELATED MATTERS.

      (a)   In calculating any amounts payable to a party seeking
indemnification under Section 9.1, 9.2A or 9.2B, (i) the Indemnifying Party
shall receive credit for (x) any reduction in actual tax liability as a result
of the facts giving rise to the claim for indemnification, and (y) any insurance
recoveries, and (ii) no amount shall be included in respect of special or
consequential damages.

      (b)   The Seller and the Principal, on the one hand, and the Buyer, on the
other hand, shall have no liability under Section 9.1(a) (except for breaches of
the representations and warranties contained in Section 2.12) unless the
aggregate amount of all Losses to the Seller and the Principal, on the one hand,
and the Buyer, on the other hand (in each case including their respective
affiliates, successors and assigns and, if applicable, their respective
officers, directors, employees and agents) for all claims arising under Section
9.1(a) exceeds $100,000 and, in such event, the Seller and the Principal, on the
one hand, and the Buyer, on the other hand, shall be required to pay only the
amount by which such aggregate amount of Losses exceeds $50,000; PROVIDED,
FURTHER, that in no event shall the Seller and the Principal, on the one hand,
or the Buyer, on the other hand, have an aggregate liability for indemnification
under Section 9.1(a) (except for breaches of the representations and warranties
contained in Section 2.12) in excess of $4,000,000. In computing any aggregate
Losses under this Section 9.6(b), Losses arising from breaches of the
representations and warranties contained in Section 2.12 shall be disregarded.

      (c)   The parties agree that the provisions of this Section 9 can be
specifically enforced in a court of competent jurisdiction. Apart from such
right to specific enforcement, the indemnification provided for in this Section
9 shall, except as set forth below, from and after the Closing, be the sole
remedy for any of the matters referred to herein. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
the purchase price adjustments contained in Section 1.7 shall be the sole
remedies for
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the covenants, representations and warranties contained in Section 1.7. For
further clarification, to the extent that events, occurrences or facts shall
arise or be discovered which give a party the right to an adjustment pursuant to
Section 1.7, Section 1.7, and not this Section 9, shall control and be the
exclusive remedy for such party arising out of such facts, events or
circumstances.

      (d)   Any indemnification payments made by the parties pursuant to this
Section 9 shall be treated by the parties for tax purposes as adjustments to the
purchase price unless otherwise required by applicable law.



      10.   POST-CLOSING AGREEMENTS

      The parties agree that from and after the Closing Date:

      10.1. PROPRIETARY INFORMATION.

      (a)   For a period of three years from the Closing Date, the Seller shall
hold in confidence, and use its best efforts to have all of its officers,
directors and personnel hold in confidence, all knowledge and information of a
secret or confidential nature with respect to the business of the Seller and
shall not disclose, publish or make use of the same without the consent of the
Buyer, except to the extent that such information shall have become public
knowledge other than by breach of this Agreement by the Seller or except as may
in the opinion of Seller's legal counsel be required by law, regulation,
governmental or supervisory authority or other applicable judicial or
governmental order.

      (b)   The Seller agrees that the remedy at law for any breach of this
Section 10.1 would be inadequate and that the Buyer shall be entitled to
injunctive relief in addition to any other remedy it may have upon breach of any
provision of this Section 10.1.

      10.2. NO SOLICITATION OR HIRING OF FORMER EMPLOYEES. Except as provided by
law, for a period of five years after the Closing Date, neither the Seller nor
any Affiliate thereof shall solicit any person who was an employee of the Seller
on the Closing Date and remains an employee of Buyer at the time of such
proposed solicitation to terminate his employment with the Buyer or to become an
employee of the Seller or an Affiliate or hire any such person. The provisions
of this Section 10.2 shall not apply to general solicitations or advertisements
not specifically directed at any such person.

      10.3. NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT.

      (a)   For a period of five years after the Closing Date, neither the
Seller nor any person controlling, controlled by, or under common control with
the Seller (including the Principal and any persons controlled by the Principal)
(each, an "AFFILIATE") shall (i) engage in any business involving the retail
sale through retail stores of pre-recorded music or videos (including, but not
limited to, the retail sale of pre-recorded compact discs, pre-recorded
cassettes or pre-recorded digital video discs or the digital distribution of
music or video content to end users) or (ii) engage in any business competitive
with the Audio Business as conducted on the date hereof or on the Closing Date,
in the United States or any other country in which the Buyer conducts its
business.

      (b)   The parties hereto agree that the duration and geographic scope of
the non-competition provision set forth in this Section 10.3 are reasonable. In
the event that any court determines that the duration or the geographic scope,
or both, are unreasonable and that such provision is to that extent
unenforceable, the parties hereto agree that the provision shall remain in full
force and effect for the greatest time period and in the greatest area that
would not render it unenforceable. The parties intend that this non-competition
provision shall be deemed to be a series of sepa-
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rate covenants, one for each and every county of each and every state of the
United States of America and each and every political subdivision of each and
every country outside the United States of America where this provision is
intended to be effective. The Seller agrees that damages are an inadequate
remedy for any breach of this provision and that the Buyer shall, whether or not
it is pursuing any potential remedies at law, be entitled to equitable relief in
the form of preliminary and permanent injunctions without bond or other security
upon any actual or threatened breach of this non-competition provision.

      10.4. SHARING OF DATA.

      (a)   The Seller shall have the right for a period of three years
following the Closing Date to have reasonable access to such books, records and
accounts, including financial and tax information, correspondence, production
records, employment records and other similar information as are transferred to
the Buyer pursuant to the terms of this Agreement for the limited purposes of
concluding its involvement in the Audio Business and for complying with its
obligations under applicable securities, tax, environmental, employment or other
laws and regulations. The Buyer shall have the right for a period of three years
following the Closing Date to have reasonable access to those books, records and
accounts, including financial and tax information, correspondence, employment
records and other records which are retained by the Seller pursuant to the terms
of this Agreement to the extent that any of the foregoing relates to the Audio
Business or is otherwise needed by the Buyer in order to comply with its
obligations under applicable securities, tax, environmental, employment or other
laws and regulations. If the Seller or the Buyer wishes to dispose of or destroy
any such books and records after the foregoing time periods, such party shall
first give reasonable prior written notice to the other party, and such other



party shall have the right, at its option and expense, to take possession of the
books and records within a reasonable period of time after receiving such
written notice.

      (b)   The Seller and the Buyer agree that from and after the Closing Date
they shall cooperate fully with each other to facilitate the transfer of the
Assets from the Seller to the Buyer and the operation thereof by the Buyer.

      10.5. USE OF NAME. Without the Buyer's prior written consent, the Seller
and the Principal each agrees not to use any Intangible Property, or any
derivation thereof or confusingly similar name, trademark, URL, or similar
identification after the Closing Date.

      10.6. COOPERATION IN LITIGATION. Each party hereto will fully cooperate
with the other in the defense or prosecution of any litigation or proceeding
already instituted or which may be instituted hereafter against or by such party
relating to or arising out of the conduct of the business of the Seller prior to
or after the Closing Date (other than litigation arising out the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement). The party requesting such cooperation shall pay
the out-of-pocket expenses (including legal fees and disbursements) of the party
providing such cooperation and of its officers, directors, employees and agents
reasonably incurred in connection with providing such cooperation, but shall not
be responsible to reimburse the party providing such cooperation for such
party's time spent in such cooperation or the salaries or costs of fringe
benefits or similar expenses paid by the party providing such cooperation to its
officers, directors, employees and agents while assisting in the defense or
prosecution of any such litigation or proceeding.

      11.   TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT

      11.1. TERMINATION BY LAPSE OF TIME. This Agreement shall terminate at 5:00
p.m., New York time, on November 30, 2000, if the transactions contemplated
hereby have not been consummated, unless such date is extended by the written
consent of all of the parties hereto.
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      11.2. TERMINATION BY AGREEMENT OF THE PARTIES. This Agreement may be
terminated by the mutual written agreement of the parties hereto. In the event
of such termination by agreement, the Buyer shall have no further obligation or
liability to the Seller under this Agreement, and the Seller shall have no
further obligation or liability to the Buyer under this Agreement.

      11.3. TERMINATION BY REASON OF BREACH. This Agreement may be terminated by
the Seller, if at any time prior to the Closing there shall occur a breach of
any of the representations, warranties or covenants of the Buyer or the failure
by the Buyer to perform any condition or obligation hereunder, and may be
terminated by the Buyer, if at any time prior to the Closing there shall occur a
breach of any of the representations, warranties or covenants of the Seller or
the failure of the Seller to perform any condition or obligation hereunder.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, (a) neither the
Seller and the Principal, on the one hand, nor the Buyer, on the other hand,
shall have any liability to the other for any termination of this agreement
arising solely out of the action or inaction of any third party or third
parties, and (b) neither the Seller nor the Principal shall have any liability
to the Buyer as a result of the failure to satisfy the condition set forth in
Section 7.4, and the Buyer's sole and exclusive remedy in such case shall be
limited to the Buyer's right to terminate this Agreement under this Section
11.3.

      12.   CERTAIN TAX MATTERS.

      (a)   The Seller shall be responsible for and shall pay (i) all sales,
use, real estate transfer and other similar taxes (and any interest, penalties
and other additions to such taxes and or any related costs or expenses), and
(ii) all governmental charges, if any, upon the sale or transfer of any of the
Assets hereunder (collectively "TRANSFER TAXES"); PROVIDED that the Seller shall
not be responsible for or required to pay any Transfer Taxes to the extent such
Transfer Taxes are specifically made the primary liability of the Buyer by
provision of applicable law; PROVIDED, FURTHER, that the Seller shall not be
responsible for any leasehold recording taxes which may arise out of the Buyer
recording a memorandum and/or assignment of record with respect to its leasehold
interest arising out of any lease. If the Seller shall fail to pay such amounts
on a timely basis, the Buyer may pay such amounts to the appropriate
governmental authority or authorities, and the Seller shall promptly reimburse
the Buyer for any amounts so paid by the Buyer.

      (b)   At the closing, the Seller and the Buyer shall deliver to each other
such properly completed resale exemption certificates and other similar
certificates or instruments as are reasonably requested by the parties to claim
available exemptions from the payment of sales, transfer, use or other similar
taxes under applicable law.

      (c)   The Buyer shall, at its sole option, have the right to use the



"Alternative Procedure" provided in Section 5 of Revenue Procedure 96-60, 1996-2
C.B. 399, with respect to filing and furnishing Internal Revenue Service Forms
W-2, W-3, and 941 for the 2000 calendar year. The Buyer shall also, at its sole
option, have the right to use any similar procedures and make any similar
elections under state or local tax laws, and the Seller shall reasonably
cooperate in the making of such elections.

      13.   BROKERS. The Seller, the Principal and the Buyer each represents and
warrants that it has not engaged any broker or finder or incurred any liability
for brokerage fees, commissions or finder's fees in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The Seller, the Principal and the
Buyer each agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the others against any claims
or liabilities asserted against it by any person acting or claiming to act as a
broker or finder on behalf of such person.
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      14.   NOTICES

      Any notices or other communications required or permitted hereunder shall
be sufficiently given if delivered personally or sent by telex, federal express
or other nationally recognized overnight courier, registered or certified mail,
postage prepaid, addressed as follows or to such other address of which the
parties may have given notice:

            To the Seller:     Wax Works, Inc.
                               325 E. Third Street
                               Owensboro, Kentucky 42303
                               Attn:  President

            To the Principal:  Mr. Terry Woodward
                               c/o Wax Works, Inc.
                               325 E. Third Street
                               Owensboro, Kentucky 42303

            With a copy to:    Sills Cummis Radin Tischman Epstein & Gross, P.A.
                               One Riverfront Plaza
                               Newark, New Jersey  07102
                               Attn:  Jeffrey H. Newman, Esq.

            To the Buyer:      Trans World Entertainment Corporation
                               38 Corporate Circle
                               Albany, New York 12203
                               Attn: Chief Financial Officer

            With a copy to:    Cahill Gordon & Reindel
                               80 Pine Street
                               New York, New York  10005
                               Attn:  William M. Hartnett, Esq.

Unless otherwise specified herein, such notices or other communications shall be
deemed received (a) on the date delivered (or on which delivery is refused), if
delivered personally; (b) the business day following delivery to an overnight
courier, if sent by overnight courier; or (c) the date of actual receipt, if
sent by any other method.

      15.   CONSENT TO JURISDICTION

      The Buyer, the Seller and the Principal each irrevocably submits to the
exclusive jurisdiction of (a) the state courts of the State of New York, county
of New York, and (b) the United States District Court for the Southern District
of New York, for the purposes of any suit, action or other proceeding arising
out of this Agreement or any transactions contemplated hereby.
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      16.   SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS

      This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, except that the
Buyer, the Seller, the Principal and any guarantor provided for below may not
assign their respective rights or obligations hereunder without the prior
written consent of the Buyer, in the case of an assignment by the Seller or the
Principal, or the Seller and the Principal, in the case of an assignment by the
Buyer or any such guarantor; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that the Buyer may assign this
Agreement, and its rights and obligations hereunder, to an affiliate of the
Buyer or in connection with any merger of the Buyer with a third party or sale
of all or substantially all of the assets of the Buyer to a third party. If the
Buyer elects to assign any of its obligations under this agreement to an
affiliate, the Buyer agrees to unconditionally guarantee the performance of such



affiliate to the Seller on terms reasonably satisfactory to the Seller. Any
assignment in contravention of this Section shall be void.

      17.   ENTIRE AGREEMENT; AMENDMENTS; ATTACHMENTS; WAIVERS

      (a)   This Agreement, all Schedules and Exhibits hereto, all agreements
and instruments to be delivered by the parties pursuant hereto and the
Confidentiality Agreement represent the entire understanding and agreement
between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and
supersede all prior oral and written and all contemporaneous oral negotiations,
commitments and understandings between such parties. The Buyer, the Seller and
the Principal may amend or modify this Agreement, in such manner as may be
agreed upon, by a written instrument executed by the Buyer, the Seller and the
Principal.

      (b)   If the provisions of any Schedule or Exhibit to this Agreement are
inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement, the provision of the
Agreement shall prevail. The Exhibits and Schedules attached hereto or to be
attached hereafter are hereby incorporated as integral parts of this Agreement.
Any matter disclosed on any Schedule to this Agreement shall be deemed to have
been disclosed on all other Schedules to this Agreement to the extent applicable
thereto.

      (c)   Waiver of any term or condition of this Agreement by any party shall
be effective if in writing and shall not be construed as a waiver of any
subsequent breach or failure of the same term or condition, or a waiver of any
other term of this Agreement. No failure or delay by any party in exercising any
right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall
any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise
thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege.

      18.   EXPENSES

      Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the Buyer, the Seller and
the Principal shall each pay their own expenses in connection with this
Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.

      19.   NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES

      This Agreement is for the sole benefit of the parties hereto and their
permitted assigns and nothing herein expressed or implied shall give or be
construed to give to any person or entity, other than the parties hereto and
such assigns, any legal or equitable rights hereunder.
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      20.   GOVERNING LAW

      This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the
internal laws of the State of New York applicable to agreements made and to be
performed entirely within the State of New York, without regard to the conflicts
of law principles thereof.

      21.   SECTION HEADINGS

      The section headings are for the convenience of the parties and in no way
alter, modify, amend, limit, or restrict the contractual obligations of the
parties.

      22.   SEVERABILITY

      The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement
shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this
Agreement.

      23.   COUNTERPARTS

      This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which
shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which shall be one and the same
document.

      24.   TERMS DEFINED IN THIS AGREEMENT.

      The following capitalized terms used herein are defined in the indicated
sections.
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      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been duly executed by the parties
hereto as of and on the date first above written.

                                    WAX WORKS, INC.



                                    By: /s/ Terry Woodward
                                        --------------------------------------
                                        Name:  Terry Woodward
                                        Title:  President

                                    PRINCIPAL:

                                    /s/ Terry Woodard
                                    ------------------------------------------
                                    Terry Woodward

                                    TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION

                                    By: /s/ John J. Sullivan
                                        --------------------------------------
                                        Name:  John J. Sullivan
                                        Title: Chief Financial Officer
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                                                                      EXHIBIT 22

                      TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION

                   SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
Name of Significant                                         Names(s) Under Which the
     Subsidiary               State of Incorporation        Subsidiary Does Business
- -------------------           ----------------------        ------------------------
<S>                           <C>                           <C>
Media Logic, Inc.                  New York                      Media Logic, Inc.

Record Town, Inc.                  New York                      Record Town, Inc.
                                                                 Saturday Matinee
                                                                 Movies Plus
                                                                 Tape World
                                                                 Coconuts
                                                                 Music World
                                                                 F.Y.E. (For Your Entertainment)
                                                                 Strawberries
                                                                 Waxie Maxie
                                                                 Planet Music
                                                                 Camelot Music
                                                                 The Wall

Record Town Michigan, Inc.         Delaware                      Record Town
                                                                 Saturday Matinee
                                                                 Tape World

Record Town Minnesota, Inc.        Delaware                      Record Town

Spec's Music, Inc.                 Florida                       Spec's Music

Trans World New York, Inc.         New York                      Trans World New York, Inc.

Trans World Management Company     New York                      Trans World Management Company

TWEC.com                           Delaware                      TWEC.com

Trans World Florida, Inc.          Florida                       Trans World Florida, Inc.
</TABLE>



                                                                      EXHIBIT 23

ACCOUNTANTS' CONSENT

We consent to incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No.
33-14572, No. 33-40399, No. 33-51094, No. 33-51516, No. 33-59319, No. 333-75231
and No. 333-81685) on Form S-8 pertaining to the Trans World Music Corp. 1986
Incentive and Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan, the Trans World Music Corp. 1990
Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors, the Trans World Entertainment
Corp. 1994 Stock Option Plan, the Camelot Music Holdings, Inc. 1998 Stock Option
Plan, the Camelot Music Holdings Inc. Outside Directors Stock Option Plan, the
Trans World Entertainment Corp. 1998 Stock Option Plan, and the Trans World
Entertainment Corp. 1999 Stock Option Plan of our report dated March 16, 2001,
relating to the consolidated balance sheets of Trans World Entertainment
Corporation and subsidiaries as of February 3, 2001 and January 29, 2000, and
the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash
flows for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period ended February 3,
2001, which report appears in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Trans World
Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries for the fiscal year ended February 3,
2001.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Albany, New York
May 4, 2001


